AGREEMENT

between the
United States Postal Service
and
National Postal Professional Nurses

1999-2004





AGREEMENT

between the
United States Postal Service
and
National Postal Professional Nurses

1999-2004

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PREAMBLE	1
UNION RECOGNITION	1
Section 1.01. Recognition	1
Section 1.02. Exclusions	1
NON-DISCRIMINATION AND CIVIL RIGHTS	1
Section 2.01. Non-Discrimination	1
Section 2.02. Grievances	2
Section 2.03. Dual Filing	2
MANAGEMENT RIGHTS	3
NEW JOBS	3
Section 4.01. Creation of New Job(s)	3
Section 4.02. New Medical Equipment	3
PROHIBITION OF UNILATERAL ACTION	4
LAYOFF OR REDUCTION IN FORCE	4
Section 6.01. Regular Work Force Layoffs	4
Section 6.02. Layoff by Inverse Seniority	4
EMPLOYEE CLASSIFICATIONS	5
Section 7.01. Definition	5
Section 7.02. Contract Nurses	5
Section 7.03. Flexible Relief Nurse Assignments	5
Section 7.04. Conversion of Part-Time Employees .	6
HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME	6
Section 8.01. Workweek	6
Section 8.02. Work Schedule	6
Section 8.03. Exceptions	7
Section 8.04. Overtime Work	7
Section 8.05. Sunday Premium Pay	8
Section 8.06. Night Shift Differential	8
Section 8.07. Guarantees	8
Section 8.08. Lunch Breaks	8
SALARIES AND WAGES	9
Section 9.01. Annual Basic Salary	9
Section 9.02. Employment Cost Index Definition	9
Section 9.03. Grade Designation	9

Section 9.04. Salary Schedule Step Progression	10
Section 9.05. Lump Sum Payment	10
Section 9.06. Granting Step Increases	10
Section 9.07. Application of Salary Rates	10
Section 9.08. Protected Salary Rates	10
Section 9.09. Professional Enhancement Incentive .	11
LEAVE	13
Section 10.01. Funding	13
Section 10.02. Leave Regulations	13
Section 10.03. Choice of Vacation Period	13
Section 10.04. Vacation Planning	14
Section 10.05. Sick Leave	15
Section 10.06. Jury Duty Leave	16
HOLIDAYS	16
Section 11.01 - Holidays Observed	16
Section 11.02. Eligibility	16
Section 11.03. Holiday Leave Pay	16
Section 11.04. Holiday Worked Pay	17
Section 11.05. Holiday on Nonworkday	17
Section 11.06. Holiday Schedule	17
Section 11.07. Holiday Part-Time Employee	18
SENIORITY, POSTING, BIDDING, AND	
REASSIGNMENT	18
Section 12.01. Probationary Period	18
Section 12.02. Seniority	19
Section 12.03. Posting	21
Section 12.04. Bidding	23
Section 12.05. Principles of Reassignment	24
ASSIGNMENT OF ILL OR INJURED REGULAR WORK FORCE EMPLOYEES	25
Section 13.01. Introduction	25
Section 13.02. Non-Occupational Illness or Injury .	25
Section 13.03. Occupational Illness or Injury	25
SAFETY AND HEALTH	26
Section 14.01. Responsibilities	26
Section 14.02. Cooperation	26

	tion 14.03. nditions	Report of Unsafe and Unhealthful
Sec	tion 14.04.	Accident Review Boards
Sec	tion 14.05.	Personal Protection Equipment
		ITRATION PROCEDURE
Sec	tion 15.01.	Definition
		Grievance Procedure
Sec	tion 15.03.	Grievance Procedure – General
Sec	tion 15.04.	Arbitration
Sec	tion 15.05.	Administration
DISCIPI	INE PROC	EDURE
		Administration
Sec	tion 16.02.	Discussions
Sec	tion 16.03.	Letter of Warning
Sec	tion 16.04.	Suspensions of Not More Than
14	Days	
		Suspensions of More Than 14 Days
		Indefinite Suspension - Crime
		Emergency Procedure
		Review of Discipline
		Veterans' Preference
		Employee Discipline Records
UNION	REPRESEN	NTATION
Sec	tion 17.01.	Appointment of Representatives
		Rights of NPPN Representatives
Sec	etion 17.03.	Payment of Stewards and Employee
		Checkoff
		National Representative
		Telephone Conferences
		No Strike
		Union Responsibility
		Union Compliance
		Legislation

HANDBOOKS AND MANUALS	40
Section 19.01. Intent	40
Section 19.02. Union Notification	40
PARKING	41
Section 20.01. Parking Program	41
Section 20.02. Energy Usage	41
Section 20.03. Security for Employees	41
Section 20.04. Local Labor-Management Meetings	41
BENEFIT PLANS	41
Section 21.01. Health Benefits	41
Section 21.02 Life Insurance	42
Section 21.03 Retirement	42
Section 21.04 Injury Compensation	42
Section 21.05 Health Benefit Brochures	43
Section 21.06. Malpractice	43
BULLETIN BOARDS	43
RIGHTS OF UNION OFFICIALS TO ENTER POSTAL INSTALLATIONS	43
EMPLOYEES ON LEAVE WITH REGARD TO UNION BUSINESS	44
Section 24.01. Step Increases and Benefits	
Determination	44
Section 24.02. Leave to Attend Union Conventions	44
Section 24.03. Choice Vacation Period	44
Section 24.04. Requests for Leave Without Pay	44
HIGHER LEVEL ASSIGNMENTS	45
Section 25.01. Temporary Assignments to Higher Level Positions Outside the Bargaining Unit	45
Section 25.02. Leave Administration	45
UNIFORMS	46
Section 26.01. Regulations	46
Section 26.02. Prescribed Uniform	46
Section 26.03. Uniform Reimbursement	47
COMMITTEES	47
Section 27.01. Joint Committee on Professional Status	47
Section 27.02. National Joint Labor-Management	-
Committee	48

UNION-MANAGEMENT COOPERATION	49
Section 28.01. Membership Solicitation and Dues Collection	49
Section 28.02. Furnishing Information to Union	49
SUBCONTRACTING	50
Section 29.01. Evaluation	50
Section 29.02. Notification to the Union	50
NONPOSTAL TRAINING AND EDUCATION	50
Section 30.01. General Training Policy	50
Section 30.02. Continuing Education	50
Section 30.03. Requests and Approvals	51
Section 30.04. Payment	52
EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM	52
Section 31.01. Statement of Principle	52
Section 31.02. Program Review	52
Section 31.03. Employee Referrals	53
SEPARABILITY AND DURATION	53
Section 32.01. Separability	53
Section 32.02. Duration	53
MEMORANDUMS AND LETTERS	
Layoff	54
Use of Contract Nurses	54
Flexible Starting Salary	55
Orientation Training for New Nurses	55
Selection of Arbitration Panels	55
Continuing Education Units/Hours (CEHs)	58
Immunity from Liability	59
Medical Directives	60
Hiring of Nurses	61
Open Units	62
Attachment 1 (Health Units to Remain Open)	63
Appendix A (Form 1187)	64
INDEX	66

Notes:

- Bold Face Type in the text indicates revised or new language.
 The following standards have been used. Where dates have changed, the entire month, day, and year are listed in bold type.
 Where numbering has changed, the entire number is listed in bold type. Where titles have changed, the entire title is listed in bold type. Bold Face Type in headings does not necessarily indicate change.
- Cross-references to relevant Memorandums of Understanding and Letters of Intent are included in the text in the Agreement. The location of the cross-references is for the convenience of the reader, and in no way affects the content or intent of the Agreement, the Memorandums, or the Letters of Intent.
- 3. At the conclusion of negotiations, in preparation to print this Agreement, the parties agreed to certain changes including; format; headings where headings did not previously exist; printing headings in bold type regardless of whether the headings contain new or old language; reference titles for memorandums; updating form and handbook references to reflect current title and number. Such "housekeeping" changes are made solely for the convenience of the reader. These changes in no way by themselves affect the substance or intent of the provisions of this or prior Agreements.

PREAMBLE

This Agreement referred to as the 1999 USPS-NPPN Agreement is entered into this 11th day of April 2002, by and between the United States Postal Service (USPS), hereinafter referred to as the "Employer," and the National Postal Professional Nurses Union (NPPN), hereinafter referred to as the "Union." The terms of this Agreement are effective April 11, 2002 except where otherwise noted.

ARTICLE 1 UNION RECOGNITION

Section 1.01. Recognition.

The Employer recognizes the Union as the exclusive bargaining representative with respect to wages, hours and other conditions of employment for all licensed professional registered nurses (hereinafter referred to as "Employees") for whom it has been certified as such agent by the National Labor Relations Board in Case No. 5-RC-13740(P).

Section 1.02. Exclusions.

The recognition set forth above does not include, and this Agreement does not apply to:

- 1.02(a). Senior Area Medical Directors, Associate Area Medical Directors, Postal Service Physicians, and Occupational health Nurse Administrators
- 1.02(b) Other professional employees;
- 1.02(c) Managerial and supervisory employees;
- 1.02(d) Guards; or
- 1.02(e) All other employees.

ARTICLE 2 NON-DISCRIMINATION AND CIVIL RIGHTS

Section 2.01. Non-Discrimination.

The Employer and the Union agree that there shall be no discrimination by the Employer or the Union against employees because of race, color, creed, religion, national origin, sex, age or marital status or because of a handicap with respect to a position the duties of which can be performed efficiently by an individual with such a handicap without danger to the health or safety of the handicapped person or to others.

Section 2.02. Grievances.

Grievances under this Article may be filed at Step 2 of the grievance procedure within 14 days of when the employee or the Union first learned or reasonably have been expected to learn of the alleged discrimination, unless filed directly at the national level, in which case the provisions of this Agreement for initiating grievances at that level shall apply.

Section 2.03. Dual Filing.

- 2.03(a). The parties recognize that the Grievance-Arbitration Procedure is the proper appeals forum for a dispute which is essentially contractual in nature. The parties further recognize that the EEO complaint procedure is the proper forum for presenting a discrimination issue and that dual filing of both a grievance and an EEO complaint on a dispute which is essentially contractual in nature both circumvents that negotiated procedure and serves as a disservice to the integrity of the EEO complaint process. The parties acknowledge the special expertise required in non-contractual discriminatory issues and give deference to the EEO complaint procedures and remedies for the redress of such discrimination.
- 2.03(b). If a employee appeals an EEO complaint as defined in Subsection 2.03(c) to the Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB), that appeal to MSPB will constitute a waiver of any further access to the Grievance-Arbitration Procedure pursuant to Article 16.09. An arbitrator will not have any jurisdiction to hear or render a decision on any grievance after an appeal is made to the MSPB.
- 2.03(c). For the purposes of this section, the term "EEO complaint" includes the following: EEO complaint and mixed case complaint.
- 2.03(d). The Union, at the national and local levels, will take steps to ensure that bargaining-unit employees are informed that essentially contractual matters should be pursued under the Grievance-Arbitration Procedure.

ARTICLE 3 MANAGEMENT RIGHTS

The Employer shall have the exclusive right, subject to the provisions of this Agreement and consistent with applicable laws and regulations:

- 3.01(a). To determine the methods, means, and personnel by which health care is to be rendered:
- 3.01(b). To direct employees of the Employer in the performance of official duties;
- 3.01(c). To hire, promote, transfer, assign, lay off, subject to the provisions of Article 6, and retain employees in positions within the Postal Service and to suspend, demote, discharge, or take other disciplinary action against such employees;
- 3.01(d). To maintain the efficiency of the operations entrusted to it;
- 3.01(e). To prescribe a uniform dress to be worn by its employees; and
- 3.01(f). To take whatever actions may be necessary to carry out its mission in emergency situations; i.e., an unforeseen circumstance or a combination of circumstances which calls for immediate action in a situation which is not expected to be of a recurring nature.

ARTICLE 4 NEW JOBS

Section 4.01. Creation of New Job(s).

Any new bargaining unit job(s) created by changes in medical procedures shall be offered to present employees capable of being trained to perform the new or changed job, and the Employer will provide such training. During the training, the rate of pay of the employee will be maintained. To the extent practical, the training herein referred to is on the job, and not to exceed sixty (60) days. Certain specialized jobs may require additional and/or off-site training.

Section 4.02. New Medical Equipment.

The purchase and installation of major new medical equipment in health units on a national basis may be an item of discussion during the National Joint Labor-Management Committee meeting. The purchase and installation of major new medical equipment at the local level may be an

item of discussion during the National Labor-Management Committee meetings. The Employer will notify the Union as far in advance as possible of the purchase and installation of major new medical equipment at either the national or local level depending on where the new equipment is to be placed.

ARTICLE 5 PROHIBITION OF UNILATERAL ACTION

The Employer will not take any actions affecting wages, hours, and other terms and conditions of employment as defined in Section 8(d) of the National Labor Relations Act which violate the terms of this Agreement or are otherwise inconsistent with its obligations under law.

ARTICLE 6 LAYOFF OR REDUCTION IN FORCE

Section 6.01. Regular Work Force Layoffs.

6.01(a). It is agreed by the Employer that no regular work force employees on the rolls prior to December 14, 1979, will be laid off on an involuntary basis during the life of this Agreement.

6.01(b). Employees who become members of the regular work force on or after December 14, 1979, will be provided the same protection afforded under 6.01(a) above on completion of 6 years of continuous service. In order to receive continuous service credit for a year, the employee must work at least one hour or receive a call in guarantee in lieu of work in at least 20 of the 26 pay periods during the employee's anniversary year. Failure to meet the 20 pay period requirement in any given year means the employee must begin a new 6-year continuous service period to achieve protected status.

6.01(c). Employees hired into the regular work force on or after December 14, 1979, who have not completed 6 years of continuous service, may be laid off for lack of work or for other legitimate, non-disciplinary reasons.

Section 6.02. Layoff by Inverse Seniority.

When the Employer determines that a layoff of registered professional nurses hired on or after December 14, 1979, who have not completed 6 years of continuous service necessary for protected status, is necessary

within an installation, such layoff shall be made in the inverse order of bargaining unit seniority; subject, however, to veterans preference rights, if any.

[see page 54]

ARTICLE 7 EMPLOYEE CLASSIFICATIONS

Section 7.01. Definition.

The regular bargaining-unit work force shall be comprised of two categories of employees which are as follows:

7.01(a). Full-Time. Full-time employees shall be hired pursuant to such procedures as the Employer may establish and shall be assigned to regular schedules consisting of five (5) eight (8) hour days in a service week.

7.01(b). Part-Time. Part-time employees shall be hired pursuant to such procedures as the Employer may establish and shall be available to work flexible hours as assigned by the Employer during the course of the service week. Part-time employees are not guaranteed any fixed number of hours of work, or pay in lieu thereof, during a pay period.

Section 7.02. Contract Nurses.

When additional work of any nature requires a temporary augmented work force or in the event of an emergency or the absence of an employee(s), the Employer may utilize the services of nurses on a contract basis. Contract nurses shall not be hired to avoid the hiring of full-time or part-time nurses. A contract nurse must be currently licensed as a registered professional nurse in a State, District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, or a territory of the United States.

The Postal Service shall make a good faith effort to notify the Union within 14 days of the utilization of contract nurses on-site in postal premises in excess of four (4) successive weeks.

Section 7.03. Flexible Relief Nurse Assignments.

Because the health units are a support function in the Postal Service, the parties recognize that the employer must have flexibility to staff this function. In order to provide local management with this flexibility there is the option to use postal employees who are licensed registered

nurses. These postal employees who are licensed registered nurses may volunteer to work in a detailed assignment as a "Flexible Relief Nurse". In order to serve in a Flexible Relief Nurse assignment the postal employee would have to volunteer to serve, they would have to be a licensed, registered nurse, and submit a PS Form 2591 to their Senior Area Medical Director to be rated and approved for employment. They would not be used to avoid the scheduling of full-time or part-time bargaining unit nurses when those nurses are available. A "Flexible Relief Nurse" will not work in that capacity more than 320 work hours per each year of this Agreement.

Section 7.04. Conversion of Part-Time Employees.

When a part-time employee works eight (8) hours within nine (9), on the same five (5) days each week over a six month period, that assignment shall be converted to a full-time position, unless the part-time nurse is replacing a full-time nurse who is on extended sick leave, leave without pay or OWCP. Work schedules will not be adjusted or arranged for the sole purpose of avoiding the conversion requirements of this section.

ARTICLE 8 HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME

Section 8.01. Workweek.

The workweek for full-time employees shall be forty (40) hours per week, eight (8) hours per day within nine (9) consecutive hours.

Section 8.02. Work Schedule.

8.02(a). Service Week. A service week is the calendar week beginning at 12:01 a.m. Saturday and ending at 12:00 midnight the following Friday.

8.02(b). Service Day. The employee's service day is the calendar day on which the majority of work is scheduled. Where the work schedule is distributed evenly over two calendar days, the service day is the calendar day on which such work schedule begins.

8.02(c). Normal Workweek. The employee's normal workweek is five (5) service days, each consisting of eight (8) hours within nine (9) consecutive hours. Recognizing the role of the health units in supporting postal activities, the Employer will, to the extent practical, endeavor to schedule a Monday through Friday workweek for all full-time employees. If it is not practical to schedule a Monday

through Friday workweek for all full-time employees due to the needs of the Service, the Employer will, as far as practical, establish the workweek as five (5) consecutive days within the service week.

8.02(d). Schedule and Assignment Area. Under normal circumstances, a full-time employee will work the schedule and hours of duty at the principal assignment area of the employee's bid assignment, as posted. To this extent and consistent with the needs of the Employer, the Employer shall endeavor to avoid the rotation of employees between tours, days off and/or health units.

Section 8.03. Exceptions.

Part-time employees will be scheduled in accordance with the above rules, except they may be scheduled for less than eight (8) hours per service day and less than forty (40) hours per normal workweek.

Section 8.04. Overtime Work.

8.04(a). Overtime Work. Overtime work is to be paid at the rate of 1-1/2 times the basic hourly straight time rate. Overtime pay shall be paid to employees after eight (8) hours on duty in any one service day or forty (40) hours in any one service week.

8.04(b). Out of Schedule Premium. The Employer shall pay premium pay to an eligible full-time employee for time worked outside of, and instead of, the employee's regularly scheduled workday or workweek when the employee is working on a temporary schedule at the request of management. Out of schedule premium pay is calculated at the rate of 50% of the basic hourly straight-time rate.

A full-time employee, whose hours of duty and/or scheduled day(s) off are changed to allow the employee to participate in approved, bona fide training of a continuing medical education nature which relates to Postal Service occupational nursing duties, will not be eligible for Out of Schedule Premium as set forth in this Section.

Nothing contained in this section shall require the payment of such out-of-schedule premium pay for temporary schedule changes made at the employee's request.

8.04(c). Pyramiding of Overtime or Premium Rates. Wherever two or more overtime or premium rates may appear applicable to

the same hour or hours worked by an employee, there shall be no pyramiding or adding together of such overtime or premium rates and only the higher of the employee's applicable rates shall apply.

Section 8.05. Sunday Premium Pay.

Each employee whose regular work schedule includes a period of service, any part of which is within the period commencing at midnight Saturday and ending at midnight Sunday, shall be paid additional compensation at the rate of 25 percent of the employee's basic hourly rate of compensation for each hour of work performed during that period of service. An employee's regularly scheduled reporting time shall not be changed on Saturday or Sunday solely to avoid the payment of Sunday Premium Pay.

Section 8.06. Night Shift Differential.

For time worked between the hours of 6:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m., each employee shall be paid additional compensation according to the night shift differential table (Table II) on page 12.

Section 8.07. Guarantees.

A full-time employee who is called in outside the employee's work schedule shall be guaranteed a minimum of four (4) consecutive hours of work or pay in lieu thereof where less than four (4) hours of work is available. Such guaranteed minimum shall not apply to an employee called in who continues working on into the employee's regularly scheduled shift. When a full-time regular employee is called in on the employee's non-scheduled day, the employee will be guaranteed eight (8) hours work or pay in lieu thereof. An employee may request early release during the guarantee period by submitting a PS Form 3971 and if approved by the Employer, the employee's timecard will only reflect actual time worked.

Section 8.08. Lunch Breaks.

Each nurse will be scheduled for a one-half (1/2) hour lunch break, off-the-clock, during the employee's scheduled tour, except in an emergency situation.

In an unusual circumstance where an employee is unable to take a lunch break at the scheduled time, the employee will be allowed an equivalent lunch break later in the employee's scheduled tour.

ARTICLE 9 SALARIES AND WAGES

Section 9.01. Annual Basic Salary

The annual basic salary for all employees covered under the terms and conditions of this Agreement, with proportional application to part-time (hourly-rate) employees, shall be increased as follows:

- 9.01(a) Effective **August 12, 2000** (PP **18-00**), **4.1**% of the basic salary per annum for employees in the Postal Nurses' Schedule on **August 11, 2000**. The basic salary increase is calculated from the percentage change in the June **2000** ECI over the June **1999** ECI or **4.1**%.
- 9.01(b) Effective August 11, 2001 (PP18-01), the basic annual salary shall be increased by 3.8% of the salary schedule in effect on August 10, 2001, and reflected on Table I. The basic salary increase is calculated from the percentage change in the June 2001 ECI over the June 2000 ECI or 3.8%.
- 9.01(c) Effective **two full pay periods after the release of the June 2002 ECI**, the basic annual salary shall be increased by a percentage amount equal to the change in the June **2002** ECI over the June **2001** ECI. The resulting percentage will be the general wage increase applied to the basic salary in effect on **August 9**, **2002**.
- 9.01(d) Effective two full pay periods after the release of the June 2003 ECI, the basic annual salary shall be increased by a percentage amount equal to the change in the June 2003 ECI over the June 2002 ECI. The resulting percentage will be the general wage increase applied to the basic salary in effect on August 8, 2003.

Section 9.02. Employment Cost Index Definition

As used herein, the Employment Cost Index (ECI) is a measure of the change in the cost of labor for private industry workers (wages and salaries index) as published by the United States Department of Labor's Bureau of Labor Statistics (June 1989 = 100).

Section 9.03. Grade Designation

The bargaining unit nurse position will be designated Grade 1, Postal Nurses' Schedule (PNS).

Section 9.04. Salary Schedule Step Progression

1 2 52 Weeks 2 3 44 Weeks 3 4 44 Weeks 4 5 44 Weeks 5 6 44 Weeks 6 7 44 Weeks 7 8 44 Weeks 8 9 44 Weeks 9 10 44 Weeks 10 11 44 Weeks 11 12 44 Weeks 12 13 44 Weeks 13 14 44 Weeks 14 15 44 Weeks	From Step	To Step	Waiting Period
3 4 44 Weeks 4 5 44 Weeks 5 6 44 Weeks 6 7 44 Weeks 7 8 44 Weeks 8 9 44 Weeks 9 10 44 Weeks 10 11 44 Weeks 11 12 44 Weeks 12 13 44 Weeks 13 14 44 Weeks	1	2	52 Weeks
4 5 44 Weeks 5 6 44 Weeks 6 7 44 Weeks 7 8 44 Weeks 8 9 44 Weeks 9 10 44 Weeks 10 11 44 Weeks 11 12 44 Weeks 12 13 44 Weeks 13 14 44 Weeks	2	3	44 Weeks
5 6 44 Weeks 6 7 44 Weeks 7 8 44 Weeks 8 9 44 Weeks 9 10 44 Weeks 10 11 44 Weeks 11 12 44 Weeks 12 13 44 Weeks 13 14 44 Weeks	3	4	44 Weeks
6 7 44 Weeks 7 8 44 Weeks 8 9 44 Weeks 9 10 44 Weeks 10 11 44 Weeks 11 12 44 Weeks 12 13 44 Weeks 13 14 44 Weeks	4	5	44 Weeks
7 8 44 Weeks 8 9 44 Weeks 9 10 44 Weeks 10 11 44 Weeks 11 12 44 Weeks 12 13 44 Weeks 13 14 44 Weeks	5	6	44 Weeks
8 9 44 Weeks 9 10 44 Weeks 10 11 44 Weeks 11 12 44 Weeks 12 13 44 Weeks 13 14 44 Weeks	6	7	44 Weeks
9 10 44 Weeks 10 11 44 Weeks 11 12 44 Weeks 12 13 44 Weeks 13 14 44 Weeks	7	8	44 Weeks
10 11 44 Weeks 11 12 44 Weeks 12 13 44 Weeks 13 14 44 Weeks	8	9	44 Weeks
11 12 44 Weeks 12 13 44 Weeks 13 14 44 Weeks	9	10	44 Weeks
12 13 44 Weeks 13 14 44 Weeks	10	11	44 Weeks
13 14 44 Weeks	11	12	44 Weeks
	12	13	44 Weeks
14 15 44 Weeks	13	14	44 Weeks
	14	15	44 Weeks

Section 9.05. Lump Sum Payment

In lieu of any general increase payments for the period August 14, 1999, through August 11, 2000, all employees covered by this Agreement shall receive a one-time cash payment, not to be included in basic pay, equal to 3.6% of their basic salary as of August 11, 2000. Employees eligible to receive this one-time cash payment must be in a regular pay status during the pay period immediately prior to the effective date of the one-time payment, January 31, 2002.

Section 9.06. Granting Step Increases

The Employer will continue the program on granting step increases for the duration of this Agreement.

Section 9.07. Application of Salary Rates

The Employer shall follow the current application of salary rates for the duration of this Agreement.

Section 9.08. Protected Salary Rates

The Employer shall follow the current salary rate protection program for the duration of this Agreement.

Section 9.09. Professional Enhancement Incentive

Any Occupational Health Nurse who demonstrates proof that the nurse possesses a current certification as a Certified Occupational Health Nurse (C.O.H.N.) on **August 14, 1999**, shall receive an annual professional enhancement incentive lump-sum payment in the amount of \$416. Additionally, occupational health nurses who possess a current certification as a C.O.H.N. on **August 12, 2000**, **August 11, 2001**, **August 10, 2002**, or **August 9, 2003**, shall also receive an annual professional enhancement incentive lump-sum payment in the amount of \$416. Nurses have the responsibility of notifying their personnel offices of their status as a C.O.H.N.

Postal Nurses Schedule

Full-Time Annual Basic Rates Effective August 11, 2001 (PP 18-2001)

RSC G (NPPN)

Grade	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	MOST PREV. STEP
1	41,487	41,997	42,506	43,013	43,523	44,032	44,541	45,048	45,998	46,512	47,026	47,539	48,050	48,566	49,079	509
								Part-Time	Nurses							•
1	20.74	21.00	21.25	21.51	21.76	22.02	22.27	22.52	23.00	23.26	23.51	23.77	24.03	24.28	24.54	
						S	tep Increa	se Waiting	Periods (i	in Weeks)						•
St	eps															
(Fror	n-To)	1-2	2-3	3-4	4-5	5-6	6-7	7-8	8-9	9-10	10-11	11-12	12-13	13-14	14-15	Years
Gra	ide 1	52	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	44	
Cumm	ıulative	52	96	140	184	228	272	316	360	404	448	492	536	580	624	12.00

NOTE:

This schedule reflects the general increase effective August $11,2001;\ 3.8\%$ per year for all steps.

Postal Nurses Schedule

NIGHT DIFFERENTIAL RATES EFFECTIVE FEBRUARY 3, 1996 (PP 04-96) FULL-TIME RATES

RSC G TABLE II

GRADE STEPS	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15
1 BASIC	1.66	1.68	1.7	1.72	1.74	1.76	1.78	1.8	1.84	1.86	1.88	1.9	1.92	1.95	1.97
Part-Time Nurses				•					•						
1 BASIC	1.73	1.75	1.77	1.79	1.81	1.83	1.86	1.88	1.92	1.94	1.96	1.98	2.00	2.02	2.04

ARTICLE 10 LEAVE

Section 10.01. Funding.

The Employer shall continue funding the leave program so as to continue the current leave earning level for the duration of this Agreement.

Section 10.02. Leave Regulations.

The leave regulations in Subchapter 510 of the Employee and Labor Relations Manual, insofar as such regulations establish wages, hours, and working conditions of employees covered by this Agreement, shall remain in effect for the life of this Agreement.

Section 10.03. Choice of Vacation Period.

10.03(a). Vacation Program. It is agreed to establish a program for vacation planning for employees in the regular work force with emphasis upon the choice vacation period(s) or variations thereof. At local installations, requests for annual leave during the choice vacation period will be granted in accordance with seniority.

10.03(b). Forfeiture of Annual Leave. Care shall be exercised to assure that no employee is required to forfeit any part of such employee's annual leave.

10.03(c). Annual leave will be granted as follows:

10.03(c)(1). Employees who earn thirteen (13) days annual leave per year shall be granted up to ten (10) days of continuous annual leave during the choice period. The number of days of annual leave, not to exceed ten (10), shall be at the option of the employee.

10.03(c)(2). Employees who earn twenty (20) or twenty-six (26) days annual leave per year shall be granted up to fifteen (15) days of continuous annual leave during the choice period. The number of days of annual leave, not to exceed fifteen (15), shall be at the option of the employee.

10.03(c)(3). An employee may request two (2) selections during the choice vacation period in units of either five (5) or ten (10) working days, the total not to exceed the ten (10) or fifteen (15) days above.

10.03(c)(4). The remainder of the employee's annual leave may be granted at other times during the leave year, as requested by the employee.

- 10.03(d). Duration of Choice Vacation Period. The choice vacation period will be the entire year except for a period of up to six (6) continuous weeks between September 15th and December 1st. This time period will be designated by the Employer, with notice given to the Union at the National level. The choice vacation period shall include military leave and approved leave to attend National, State and Regional meetings.
- 10.03(e). Employee's Vacation Period. The employee's vacation period shall start on the first day of the employee's basic workweek. Exceptions may be granted by agreement among the employee, the Union representative and the Employer.
- 10.03(f). Jury Duty or Attendance at Conventions. An employee who is called for jury duty during the employee's scheduled choice vacation period or who attends a National, State, or Regional meeting during the choice vacation period is eligible for another available period provided this does not deprive any other employee of first choice for scheduled vacations.

Section 10.04. Vacation Planning.

- 10.04(a). Leave Year. The Employer shall, no later than November 1, publicize on the bulletin boards and by other appropriate means, the beginning date of the new leave year, which shall begin with the first day of the first full pay period of the calendar year.
- 10.04(b). Responsibility of Installation Head. The installation head or designee shall be responsible for the following:
 - 10.04(b)(1). Determine the amount of annual leave accrued to each employee's credit including that for the current year and the amount expected to be taken in the current year.
 - 10.04(b)(2). If necessary, the installation head or designee will meet with a representative of the Union to review local requirements.
 - 10.04(b)(3). Determine the final date for submission of applications for vacation period(s) of the employee's choice during the choice vacation period(s).
 - 10.04(b)(4). Provide official notice to each employee of the vacation schedule approved for each employee.
- 10.04(c) Advance Leave Commitments. All advance commitments for granting annual leave must be honored except in serious emergency situations.

10.04(d) Selection of Annual Leave Other Than Choice Period. A procedure in each installation for submission of applications for annual leave for periods other than the choice period may be established, provided that this procedure has been discussed with the steward or Union representative in that installation.

10.04(e). Emergency Leave. To the maximum extent practical, the installation head or designee will consider an employee's request for emergency leave. Each request will be considered on the merits of the individual situation.

10.04(f). Vacation Roster. A vacation roster shall be maintained at a location accessible to employees. Requests for annual leave for any weeks during the choice vacation period which still remain vacant on the roster shall be handled as follows:

10.04(f)(1). The installation head or designee may honor all requests for annual leave during the vacant weeks, provided such requests have been submitted seven (7) days in advance of the period desired. Such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.

10.04(f)(2). The installation head or designee will, to the extent practical, grant requests for annual leave during the vacant weeks which are submitted less than seven (7) days in advance of the period desired.

Section 10.05. Sick Leave.

The Employer agrees to continue the administration of the present sick leave program, which shall include the following specific items:

10.05(a). Credit employees with sick leave as earned.

10.05(b). Charge to annual leave or leave without pay (at employee's option) approved absence for which employee has insufficient sick leave.

10.05(c). Employee becoming ill while on annual leave may have leave charged to sick leave upon request.

10.05(d). Unit charge for sick leave shall be in minimum units of less than one (1) hour.

10.05(e). For periods of absence of three (3) days or less, the designated immediate supervisor may accept an employee's certification as reason for an absence.

Section 10.06. Jury Duty Leave.

Jury duty leave provisions which apply to regular employees under Section 510 of the ELM shall also apply to part-time employees.

ARTICLE 11 HOLIDAYS

Section 11.01 - Holidays Observed.

The following ten (10) days shall be considered holidays for full-time employees:

New Year's Day
Martin Luther King, Jr.'s Birthday
Washington's Birthday
Memorial Day
Independence Day
Labor Day
Columbus Day
Veterans' Day
Thanksgiving Day
Christmas Day

Section 11.02. Eligibility.

To be eligible for holiday pay an employee must be in a pay status the last hour of the employee's scheduled work day prior to or the first hour of the employee's scheduled work day after the holiday.

Section 11.03. Holiday Leave Pay.

11.03(a). An employee shall receive eight (8) hours of holiday pay at the employee's basic hourly straight time rate.

11.03(b). Holiday pay is in lieu of other paid leave to which an employee might otherwise be entitled on the employee's holiday.

Section 11.04. Holiday Worked Pay.

11.04(a). An employee required to work on a holiday other than Christmas shall be paid the basic hourly straight time rate for each hour worked up to eight (8) hours in addition to the holiday pay to which the employee is entitled as above described.

11.04(b). An employee required to work on Christmas shall be paid one and one-half (1-1/2) times the basic hourly straight time rate for each hour worked in addition to the holiday pay to which the employee is entitled as above described.

Section 11.05. Holiday on Nonworkday.

11.05(a). When a holiday falls on Sunday, the following Monday will be observed as the holiday. When a holiday falls on Saturday, the preceding Friday shall be observed as the holiday.

11.05(b). When an employee's scheduled nonworkday falls on a day observed as a holiday, the employee's scheduled workday preceding the holiday shall be designated as that employee's holiday.

Section 11.06. Holiday Schedule.

11.06(a). The Employer will determine the number and categories of employees needed for holiday work and a schedule shall be posted as of the Wednesday preceding the service week in which the holiday falls. As many full-time schedule employees as can be spared will be excused from duty on a holiday or day designated as their holiday. Such employees will not be required to work on a holiday or day designated as their holiday unless part-time employees are utilized to the maximum extent possible, even if the payment of overtime is required, and unless all full-time employees with the needed skills who wish to work on the holiday have been afforded the opportunity to do so.

11.06(b). Subject to the aforementioned Employer determination of the number and categories of employees needed for holiday work, the Employer will select volunteer full-time schedule employees by seniority to work on the holiday. If there are not sufficient volunteers, inverse seniority will be used to select employees to work on the holiday.

11.06(c). An employee scheduled to work on a holiday who does not work, shall not receive holiday pay, unless such absence is based on an extreme emergency situation and is excused by the Employer.

11.06(d). When the Employer fails to post in accordance with Section 11.06(a) above, a full-time employee required to work on their holiday shall be paid an additional fifty percent (50%) of the employee's basic hourly straight-time rate for each hour worked up to eight (8) hours.

11.06(e). When the full-time employee scheduled to work on their holiday is unable or fails to work on said holiday, the Employer may require another full-time employee to work such schedule, and such replacement employee shall not be eligible for the additional fifty percent (50%) premium noted in Section 11.06(d) above. The selection of such replacement employees shall be made in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.

Section 11.07. Holiday Part-Time Employee.

A part-time employee shall not receive holiday pay as such. The employee shall be compensated for the ten (10) holidays by basing the employee's regular straight time hourly rate on the employee's annual rate divided by 2000 hours. For work performed on December 25, a part-time employee shall be paid, in addition to the employee's regular straight time hourly rate, one-half (1/2) times the employee's regular straight time hourly rate for each hour worked up to eight (8) hours.

ARTICLE 12 SENIORITY, POSTING, BIDDING, AND REASSIGNMENT

Section 12.01. Probationary Period.

12.01(a). Length of Probationary Period. A new employee must serve a probationary period of ninety (90) calendar days as a registered professional nurse in the bargaining unit. The probationary period shall be extended by one work day for each work day the employee is absent from work due to illness, injury, or other causes. The Employer shall have the right to separate from its employ any probationary employee at any time during the probationary period and these probationary employees shall not be permitted access to the grievance procedure in relation thereto. A new employee will receive monthly performance evaluations during his/her probationary period.

12.01(b). Falsification of Employment Application. The parties recognize that the failure of the Employer to discover a falsification by an employee in the employment application prior to the expiration of the probationary period shall not bar the use of such falsification as a reason for discharge.

12.01(c). Seniority Accrual. When an employee completes the probationary period, seniority will be computed in accordance with this Agreement as of the initial day of full-time or part-time employment.

12.01(d). Rehire. When an employee who is separated from the Postal Service for any reason is rehired, the employee shall serve a new probationary period. If the separation was due to disability, the employee's seniority shall be established in accordance with Section 12.02, if applicable.

Section 12.02. Seniority.

12.02(a). Full-time Employees. Seniority for full-time employees is computed from the date of appointment as a registered professional nurse employed by the Employer, in the bargaining unit, whether such appointment is as a part-time employee, or full-time employee. Seniority continues to accrue so long as service in the bargaining unit is uninterrupted except as otherwise provided herein.

12.02(b). Part-Time Employees. Part-time employees are placed on a part-time roster at the installation where they are employed in the order of their date of appointment in the bargaining unit. When converting part-time employees to full-time status, they shall be taken in the order of their standing on the part-time roster. Part-time employees do not have seniority rights; however, their relative length of service shall be used for vacation scheduling and for conversion to full-time status.

12.02(c). Changes in Which Seniority is Retained, Regained or Restored.

12.02(c)(1). Reemployment After Disability Separation. On reinstatement or reemployment after separation caused by disability retirement or resignation because of personal illness and the employee so stated on the employee's resignation and furnished satisfactory evidence for inclusion in the employee's personnel folder, the employee receives seniority credit for past service and for the time on disability retirement or the time of the illness, if the employee is reinstated or reemployed in the bargaining unit; provided application for reinstatement or reemployment is made within six months from the date of recovery. The date of recovery in the case of disability retirement must be supported by notice of recovery from the Retirement and Insurance Division of the Office of Personnel Management, and in the case of resignation due to illness, by a statement from the applicant's physician or practitioner. When reinstatement is to the part-time flexible roster, standing on the roster shall be the same as if employment had not been interrupted by the separation.

- 12.02(c)(2). Restoration. On restoration to the bargaining unit after return from military service, transfer under letter of authority, or unjust removal, the employee shall regain the same seniority rights the employee would have if not separated.
- 12.02(c)(3). Voluntary Reassignment and Return. A bargaining unit employee who is voluntarily reassigned to a postal position outside the bargaining unit and who subsequently requests and is granted voluntary reassignment back to the bargaining unit within ninety (90) days shall regain the seniority previously acquired as a bargaining unit employee, augmented by the intervening employment.
- 12.02(c)(4). Involuntary Reassignment and Return. A bargaining unit employee who left the bargaining unit on or after March 22, 1980 and who is subsequently involuntarily reassigned back to the bargaining unit within two (2) years shall regain the seniority previously acquired.
- 12.02(c)(5). Change of Position. When an employee changes from a position outside the nurses' bargaining unit to a position within the nurses' bargaining unit (voluntarily or involuntarily), the employee will begin a new period of seniority.
- 12.02(c)(6). Failure to Meet Qualification Standards. If an employee is returned to the bargaining unit for failure to meet the qualification standards for the position for which the employee left the bargaining unit, the employee shall regain the seniority previously acquired.
- 12.02(c)(7). Involuntary Change of Installation. Any bargaining unit employee involuntarily moving from one postal installation to another postal installation shall have seniority established as of the employee's time in the bargaining unit.
- 12.02(c)(8). Voluntary Change of Installation. Any full-time bargaining unit employee voluntarily moving from one postal installation to another shall have seniority established at the lesser of the employee's seniority or one-day junior to the seniority of the junior full-time employee at the new installation.
- 12.02(d). Changes in Which Seniority is Lost. Except as specifically provided elsewhere is this Agreement, an employee begins a new period of seniority:

- 12.02(d)(1). Upon reinstatement or reemployment or
- 12.02(d)(2). Upon transfer into the bargaining unit.
- 12.02(e). Special Benefits to Certain Employees. Any employee who is entitled to seniority credit by virtue of law shall receive such seniority credit.
- 12.02(f). Displacement or Bumping. No employee shall be allowed to displace or "bump" another employee properly holding a duty assignment by bid.

Section 12.03. Posting.

- 12.03(a). Method of Posting.
 - 12.03(a)(1). Only full-time employees may bid on full-time vacant assignments.
 - 12.03(a)(2). All vacant or newly established full-time assignments shall be posted for bid for employees eligible to bid within ten (10) days after a determination has been made that the position is not to be reverted. If a vacant full-time duty assignment has not been posted within thirty (30) days, the installation head or designee shall advise the Union in writing of the reasons the positions are being withheld and the anticipated length of time such positions will remain vacant. If the vacant full-time assignment is reverted, a notice shall be posted within ten (10) days advising of the action taken and the reasons therefor.
 - 12.03(a)(3). When it is necessary that fixed scheduled day(s) of work in the basic workweek for a bargaining unit assignment be permanently changed, the affected assignment shall be reposted. The change in work days shall not be effected until the job has been posted.
 - 12.03(a)(4). No assignment will be posted because of a change in starting time unless the change exceeds one hour. Any change in starting time that exceeds one (1) hour shall be posted for bid, except when there is a permanent change in starting time of more than one hour the incumbent shall have the option to accept such new reporting time. If the incumbent does not accept the new reporting time, the assignment shall be posted for bid.
 - 12.03(a)(5). A change in principal assignment area which requires reporting to a different physical location will require

the reposting of the duty assignment; i.e., station, branch, facility, annex, etc., except the incumbent shall have the option to accept the new assignment.

12.03(a)(6). In the event that no eligible employees bid for an assignment posted pursuant to paragraphs (3), (4), and (5) above, the junior full-time regular employee in the installation shall be reassigned to that assignment. The employee whose assignment was posted pursuant to paragraphs (3), (4), and (5) above shall then be reassigned to the assignment vacated by the reassignment of the junior full-time regular employee.

12.03(a)(7). Vacant full-time bargaining unit assignments shall be posted for bid for a period of fifteen (15) days in the commuting area where the vacancy occurs. In filling the vacancy, first priority shall be given to employees where the vacancy is located. If there are no qualified bidders from that installation, bidders from outside the installation but who are working within the commuting area will be considered. If no qualified bidder bids for the assignment within the fifteen (15) day period, consideration shall be given to full-time bargaining unit employees from outside the installation who have made prior written application for transfer to the installation. An employee whose request for transfer is approved will be allowed to use up to five (5) days of annual leave, if available, or five (5) days of leave without pay, for the purpose of transferring.

12.03(a)(7)(A). For the purposes of this Section, the commuting area shall be defined as the area within a radius of fifty (50) miles from the health unit where the vacancy occurs.

12.03(a)(8). The installation head shall establish a method for handling multiple bidding on duty assignments which are simultaneously posted.

12.03(a)(9). An employee may withdraw a bid on a posted assignment, if the withdrawal request is in writing and is received prior to the closing date of the posting.

12.03(a)(10). The installation head shall maintain a register of applicants for postal nurse positions which shall be updated on an as needed basis.

12.03(b). Place of Posting. Notices for bids for a bargaining unit assignment shall be posted on the official bulletin board(s) normal-

ly used for such posting at all facilities having health units within the metropolitan commuting area where the vacancy exists. Copies of the notice shall be sent to the Union at the National level.

12.03(c). When an absent employee has so requested in writing, stating the employee's mailing address, a copy of any notice inviting bids for which the employee is eligible to apply shall be mailed to the employee by the installation head.

Section 12.04. Bidding.

12.04(a). Notice for Bids. A notice for bids shall include:

12.04(a)(1). The title and duties of the position,

12.04(a)(2). Salary range,

12.04(a)(3). Hours of duty (beginning and ending),

12.04(a)(4). Principal assignment area and location of activity,

12.04(a)(5). Qualification standards and occupation code number,

12.04(a)(6). Invitation to employees to submit bids,

12.04(a)(7). Schedule of days of work,

12.04(a)(8). Beginning and closing date of the bid,

12.04(a)(9). Installation where the vacancy exists.

12.04(b). Successful Bidder.

12.04(b)(1). Within ten (10) days after the closing date of the notice for bids, the installation head shall post a notice stating the successful bidder.

12.04(b)(2). The successful bidder shall be placed in the new assignment within fifteen (15) days after the posting of the notice of successful bidder.

Section 12.05. Principles of Reassignment.

12.05(a). The following rights concerning reassignments apply only to employees who were employed in the regular work force in this bargaining unit as of December 14, 1979. In the event that there are excess employees in a health unit after laying off

employees subject to lavoff, such excess employees may be involuntarily reassigned to existing vacancies in the same pay level in other health units or to other Postal Service positions consistent with appropriate regulations if no vacancies exist within the bargaining unit. If there are any employees who will remain in the health unit from which employees are to be reassigned, determination of which employee(s) will remain in that health unit shall be based on seniority. Once a determination is made as to which employees will be involuntarily reassigned, those employees will have the opportunity to select from available vacancies based on seniority. Employees involuntarily reassigned shall receive reimbursement for moving, mileage, per diem and movement of household goods, as appropriate, if legally payable, pursuant to the provisions of the Methods Handbook F-10, Travel. Employees involuntarily reassigned to other health units pursuant to this section shall retain their seniority upon reassignment.

12.05(b). A senior employee who would not have been involuntarily reassigned may voluntarily substitute for the most senior employee who would otherwise be reassigned. In such case, the senior employee shall not be reimbursed for moving and transportation expenses, and the employee's seniority upon reassignment shall be that of the more junior employee whose place is being taken.

12.05(c). When the Employer is planning a reduction in work force within a health unit, the Employer will meet with the Union at the national level at least 90 days in advance of implementation of the plan. The Union may, at such meeting, present alternatives to the involuntary relocation of employees in order to minimize the disruptive impact on the employees, and the Employer will give such alternatives consideration.

12.05(d). When the Employer is planning a major reassignment of employees, the Employer will advise the Union at least sixty (60) days prior to the implementation of the planned reassignment. The Union may request a meeting at the national level to discuss the planned reassignment.

ARTICLE 13 ASSIGNMENT OF ILL OR INJURED REGULAR WORK FORCE EMPLOYEES

Section 13.01. Introduction.

The Employer and the Union, recognizing their responsibility to aid and assist deserving full-time regular and part-time employees who, through illness or injury, are unable to perform their regularly assigned duties, agree to the following provisions and conditions for reassignment to temporary or permanent light duty or other assignments.

Section 13.02. Non-Occupational Illness or Injury.

Upon request from an employee who is unable to perform the employee's regularly assigned duties due to a non occupational illness or injury, the installation head shall attempt, to the extent practical, to place the employee in a light duty assignment consistent with the employee's medical limitations. It is incumbent upon the employee making such a request to provide medical evidence of the extent of disability, so that the installation head may be able to assign the employee appropriate work. An installation head may require the employee to supply additional medical information or submit to a medical examination by a physician designated by the installation head. Light duty assignments shall be within the bargaining unit, to the extent that there is bargaining unit work available within the employee's work limitations, and, if such work is not available, other appropriate and available work, if any, may be assigned.

Section 13.03. Occupational Illness or Injury.

An employee who is partially disabled as a result of an occupational illness or injury shall be accorded such rights as are established pursuant to the Federal Employees' Compensation Act, and applicable regulations, including the provisions of the Employee and Labor Relations Manual.

ARTICLE 14 SAFETY AND HEALTH

Section 14.01. Responsibilities.

It is the responsibility of management to provide safe working conditions in the health units and to develop a safe and health conscious work force. The Union will cooperate with and assist management to live up to this responsibility.

Section 14.02. Cooperation.

The Employer and the Union insist on the observance of safety rules and safe procedures by employees and insist on correction of unsafe conditions. Health units must be maintained in a safe and sanitary condition, including occupational health and environmental conditions.

Section 14.03. Report of Unsafe and Unhealthful Conditions.

The Employer shall make available forms to be used by employees in reporting unsafe and unhealthful health unit conditions. If an employee believes he/she is being required to work under unsafe conditions, the employee may: (a) notify such employee's immediate supervisor who will promptly investigate the condition and take corrective action, if necessary; (b) file a grievance at Step 1 of the grievance procedure within fourteen (14) days of notifying such employee's supervisor if no corrective action has been initiated within 24 hours after the date of notification to the supervisor.

Section 14.04. Accident Review Boards.

An employee will, whenever possible, be given at least 24 hours advance notice before an appearance is required before an Accident Review Board. Upon request of the employee, union representation will be permitted at all discussions of accidents, provided that the acquiring of such union representation does not delay the scheduled discussion.

Section 14.05. Personal Protection Equipment.

The Employer will provide postal nurses with all personal protection equipment that the National Medical Director has determined to be appropriate and relevant, giving due consideration to OSHA requirements and the guidelines for nurses established by the Center for Disease Control.

ARTICLE 15 GRIEVANCE-ARBITRATION PROCEDURE

Section 15.01. Definition.

A grievance is defined as a dispute, difference, disagreement or complaint between the parties related to wages, hours, and conditions of employment. A grievance shall include, but is not limited to, the complaint of an employee or of the Union which involves the interpretation, application of, or compliance with the provisions of this Agreement. All disputes relating to wages, hours, and conditions of employment shall be processed through the grievance- arbitration procedure set forth in this Article prior to proceeding in any other forums.

Section 15.02. Grievance Procedure.

15.02(a). Step 1.

15.02(a)(1). The Step 1 standard grievance form shall be filed with the immediate supervisor. The immediate supervisor of the bargaining unit nurses for the purpose of discussing Step 1 grievances is defined as the Occupational Health Nurse Administrator or such other person designated by the installation head or designee.

15.02(a)(2). Any grievance initiated at Step 1, must be filed within fourteen (14) days of the date on which the Union or the employee first learned or may reasonably have been expected to have learned of its cause.

15.02(a)(3). The immediate supervisor or designee will meet with the employee and/or steward or a Union representative as expeditiously as possible, but no later than **fifteen (15)** days following receipt of the Step 1 grievance unless the parties agree upon a later date.

15.02(a)(4). In all grievances appealed from Step 1 or filed at Step 2, where the grievant is represented by a steward or a Union representative, such representative shall have authority to settle or withdraw the grievance as a result of discussions or compromise in this Step. The immediate supervisor or designee in Step 1 also shall have authority to grant or settle the grievance in whole or in part.

15.02(a)(5). At the meeting the employee and/or steward or Union representative shall make a statement of facts relied

upon, contractual provisions involved, and remedy sought. The employee and/or steward or Union representative may also furnish written statements from witnesses or other individuals. The Employer representative shall also make a statement of facts and contractual provisions relied upon. The parties' representatives shall cooperate fully in the effort to develop all necessary facts, including the exchange of copies of all relevant papers or documents in accordance with Article 28. The parties' representatives may mutually agree to jointly interview witnesses where desirable to assure full development of all facts and contentions. In addition, in cases involving discharge either party shall have the right to present no more than two witnesses. Such right shall not preclude the parties from jointly agreeing to interview additional witnesses as provided above.

15.02(a)(6). Any settlement or withdrawal of a grievance in Step 1 shall be in writing or shall be noted on the standard grievance form, but shall not be a precedent for any purpose, unless the parties specifically so agree or develop an agreement to dispose of future similar or related problems.

15.02(a)(7). Where agreement is not reached the Employer's decision, along with reasons for denial, shall be furnished to the employee, steward or Union representative in writing, within **fifteen** (15) days after the Step 1 meeting unless the parties agree to extend the **fifteen** (15) day period. The decision shall include a statement of the Employer's understanding of (1) all relevant facts, (2) the contractual provisions involved, and (3) the reasons for denial of the grievance.

15.02(a)(8). If the employee, steward or Union representative believes that the facts or contentions set forth in the decision are incomplete or inaccurate, such person should, within **fifteen (15)** days of receipt of the Step 1 decision, transmit to the Employer's representative a written statement setting forth corrections or additions deemed necessary by the Union. Any such statement must be included in the file as part of the grievance record in the case. The filing of such corrections or additions shall not affect the time limits for appeal to Step 2.

15.02(a)(9). The Union may appeal an adverse Step 1 decision to Step 2. The Union shall be entitled to appeal an adverse decision to Step 2 of the grievance procedure within

twenty-one (21) days after receipt of the immediate supervisor or designee's decision. Such appeal shall be made by completing a standard grievance form which shall include appropriate space for at least the following:

- 1. Detailed statement of facts;
- 2. Contentions of the grievant;
- 3. Particular contractual provisions involved; and
- 4. Remedy sought.

15.02(b). Step 2.

15.02(b)(1). Any appeal from an adverse decision in Step 1 shall be in writing to the Senior Area Medical Director if it involves a medically related issue and to the Area Manager, Human Resources for all other issues, with a copy to the Employer's Step 1 representative, and shall specify the reasons for the appeal.

15.02(b)(2). The grievant shall be represented at the Employer's area level by a representative designated by the Union and certified pursuant to Article 17. The Step 2 meeting of the parties' representatives to discuss the grievance shall be held within twenty-one (21) days after it has been appealed to Step 2. Each party's representative shall be responsible for making certain that all relevant facts and contentions have been developed and considered. The Union representative shall have authority to settle or withdraw the grievance in whole or in part. The Employer's representative likewise shall have authority to grant the grievance in whole or in part. In any case where the parties' representatives mutually conclude that relevant facts or contentions were not developed adequately in Step 1, they shall have authority to return the grievance to the Step 1 level for full development of all facts and further consideration at that level. In such event, the parties' representatives at Step 1 shall meet within ten (10) days after the grievance is returned to Step 2. Thereafter, the time limits and procedures applicable to Step 1 grievances shall apply.

15.02(b)(3). The Employer's written Step 2 decision on the grievance shall be provided to the Union's Step 2 representative within **twenty-one** (21) days after the parties have met in

Step 2, unless the parties agree to extend the **twenty-one** day period. Such decision shall state the reasons for the decision in detail and shall include a statement of any additional facts and contentions not previously set forth in the record of the grievance as appealed from Step 1. Such decision also shall state whether the Employer's Step 2 representative believes that no interpretive issue under the USPS-NPPN Agreement or some supplement thereto which may be of general application is involved in the case. **Any settlement or withdrawal of a grievance at Step 2 shall be in writing or shall be noted on the standard grievance form, but shall not be precedent for any purpose, unless the parties specifically agree.**

15.02(b)(4). The Union may appeal an adverse decision directly to arbitration at the area level within **twenty-eight** (28) days after the receipt of the Employer's Step 2 decision in accordance with the procedure hereinafter set forth; provided the Employer's Step 2 decision states that no interpretive issue under the USPS-NPPN Agreement or some supplement thereto which may be of general application is involved in the case.

15.02(b)(5). If either party's representative at any point in the grievance-arbitration procedure maintains that the grievance involves an interpretive issue under the USPS-NPPN Agreement, or some supplement thereto which may be of general application, this interpretive issue will become a national issue to be met on and resolved (including arbitration) pursuant to the procedures set forth in Section 15.02(c). The Union representative shall be entitled to appeal an adverse decision to Step 3 (National level) of the grievance procedure. Any such appeal must be made within **twenty-eight** (28) days after receipt of the Employer's decision and include copies of the standard grievance form, the Step 1 and Step 2 decisions, and if filed, any Union corrections and additions filed at Steps 1 and 2. The Union shall furnish a copy of the Union appeal to the Area Manager of Human Resources.

15.02(c). Step 3.

In any case properly appealed to this Step the parties shall meet at the National level promptly, but in no event later than **thirty-five (35)** days after filing such appeal in an attempt to resolve the grievance. The Union representative shall have

authority to settle or withdraw the grievance in whole or in part. The Employer's representative shall have authority to grant or settle the grievance in whole or in part. The parties' Step 3 representatives may, by mutual agreement, return any grievance to Step 2 where (a) the parties agree that no national interpretive issue is fairly presented, or (b) it appears that all relevant facts have not been developed adequately. In such event, the parties shall meet at Step 2 within twenty-one days after the grievance is returned to Step 2. Thereafter the procedures and time limits applicable to Step 2 grievances shall apply. Following their meeting in any case not returned to Step 2, a written decision by the Employer will be rendered within **twenty-one** days after the Step 3 meeting unless the parties agree to extend the twenty-one day period. The decision shall include an adequate explanation of the reasons therefor. In any instance where the parties have been unable to dispose of a grievance by settlement or withdrawal, the President of the Union shall be entitled to appeal it to arbitration at the National level within thirty-five (35) days after receipt of the Employer's Step 3 decision.

Section 15.03. Grievance Procedure – General.

15.03(a). The parties expect that good faith observance, by their respective representatives, of the principles and procedures set forth above will result in settlement or withdrawal of substantially all grievances initiated hereunder at the lowest possible step and recognize their obligation to achieve that end.

15.03(b). The failure of the employee or the Union in Step 1, or the Union thereafter to meet the prescribed time limits of the Steps of this procedure, including arbitration, shall be considered as a waiver of the grievance. However, if the Employer fails to raise the issue of timeliness at Step 2, or at the step at which the employee or Union failed to meet the prescribed time limits, whichever is later, such objection to the processing of the grievance is waived.

15.03(c). Failure by the Employer to schedule a meeting or render a decision in any of the Steps of this procedure within the time herein provided (including mutually agreed to extension periods) shall be deemed to move the grievance to the next Step of the grievance-arbitration procedure.

15.03(d). It is agreed that in the event of a dispute between the Union and the Employer as to the interpretation of this Agreement,

such dispute may be initiated as a grievance at the Step 3 level by the President of the Union. Such a grievance shall be initiated in writing and must specify in detail the facts giving rise to the dispute, the precise interpretive issues to be decided and the contention of the Union. Thereafter the parties shall meet at Step 3 within **thirty-five** (35) days in an effort to define the precise issues involved, develop all necessary facts, and reach agreement. Should they fail to agree, then, within **twenty-one** days of such meeting, each party shall provide the other with a statement in writing of its understanding of the issues involved, and the facts giving rise to such issues. In the event the parties have failed to reach agreement within **seventy** (70) days of the initiation of the grievance in Step 3, the Union then may appeal it to arbitration, within **thirty-five** (35) days thereafter.

Section 15.04. Arbitration.

15.04(a). General Provisions.

15.04(a)(1). A request for arbitration shall be submitted within the specified time limit for appeal.

15.04(a)(2). No grievance may be arbitrated except when timely notice of appeal is given the Employer at the appropriate National or Area level in writing by the President of the Union.

15.04(a)(3). All grievances appealed to arbitration will be placed on the appropriate pending arbitration list in the order in which appealed. The Employer, in consultation with the Union, will be responsible for maintaining appropriate dockets of grievances, as appealed, and for administrative functions necessary to assure efficient scheduling and hearing of cases by arbitrators at all levels.

15.04(a)(4). In the event that either party withdraws a case less than five (5) days prior to the scheduled arbitration date, and the parties are unable to agree on scheduling another case on that date, the party withdrawing the case shall pay the full costs of the arbitrator for that date. In the event that the parties settle a case or either party withdraws a case five (5) or more days prior to the scheduled arbitration date and are unable to agree to schedule another case, the parties shall share the costs of the arbitrator for that date. If the parties settle a case less than five (5) days prior to the scheduled arbitration and are

unable to agree to schedule another case, the parties shall share the costs of the arbitrator for that date.

15.04(a)(5). Arbitration hearings normally will be held during the working hours where practical. Employees whose attendance as witnesses is required at hearings during their regular working hours shall be on Employer time when appearing at the hearing, provided the time spent as a witness is part of the employee's regular working hours.

15.04(a)(6). All decisions of an arbitrator will be final and binding. All decisions of arbitrators shall be limited to the terms and provisions of this Agreement, and in no event may the terms and provisions of this Agreement be altered, amended, or modified by an arbitrator. Unless otherwise provided in this Article, all costs, fees, and expenses charged by an arbitrator will be shared equally by the parties.

15.04(a)(7). Cases will be scheduled for arbitration both at the National and Area level, in the order in which appealed unless the Union and the Employer have otherwise agreed.

15.04(a)(8). Cases appealed to arbitration which involve removals or suspensions for more than thirty (30) days shall be scheduled at the area level at the earliest possible date.

15.04(a)(9). Normally, there will be no transcripts of arbitration hearings or filing of post-hearing briefs in cases heard in regular area level arbitration, except either party at the National level may request a transcript, and either party at the hearing may request to file a post-hearing brief. However, each party may file a written statement setting forth its understanding of the facts and issues and its argument at the beginning of the hearing and also shall be given an adequate opportunity to present argument at the conclusion of the hearing. The arbitrator in any given case should render an award therein within thirty (30) days of the close of the record in the case.

15.04(a)(10). Cases involving national interpretive issues under this Agreement will be arbitrated at the National level. Separate dockets of cases appealed to arbitration at the National level shall be maintained for the Union.

15.04(a)(11). If either party concludes that a case referred to area arbitration involves an interpretive issue under the

USPS-NPPN Agreement or some supplement thereto which may be of general application, that party may withdraw the case from arbitration and refer the case to Step 3 of the grievance procedure.

15.04(a)(12). The arbitrators selected by the parties shall serve for the term of this Agreement and shall continue to serve for six (6) months thereafter, unless the parties otherwise mutually agree.

15.04(a)(13). The arbitrators shall be selected by the method agreed upon by the parties' national representatives.

[see page 55]

Section 15.05. Administration.

The parties recognize their continuing joint responsibility for efficient functioning of the grievance procedure and effective use of arbitration. Commencing six (6) months after the signing of this Agreement, and semi-annually thereafter, the Employer will furnish to the Union a copy of a semi-annual report containing the following information covering operation of the arbitration procedure at each **Area** separately:

15.05(a). number of cases appealed to arbitration;

15.05(b). number of cases scheduled for hearing;

15.05(c). number of cases heard;

15.05(d). number of scheduled hearing dates, if any, which were not used;

15.05(e). the total number of cases pending but not scheduled at the end of the semi- annual period.

ARTICLE 16 DISCIPLINE PROCEDURE

Section 16.01. Administration.

In the administration of this Article, a basic principle shall be that discipline should be corrective in nature, rather than punitive. No employee may be disciplined or discharged except for just cause such as, but not limited to, insubordination, pilferage, intoxication (drugs or alcohol), incompetence, failure to perform work as requested, violation of the terms of this Agreement, or failure to observe safety rules and

regulations. Any such discipline or discharge shall be subject to the grievance-arbitration procedure provided for in this Agreement, which could result in reinstatement and restitution, including back pay.

Section 16.02. Discussions.

For minor offenses by an employee, management has a responsibility to discuss such matters with the employee. Discussions of this type shall be held in private between the employee and the supervisor. Such discussions are not considered discipline and are not grievable. Following such discussions, there is no prohibition against the supervisor and/or the employee making a personal notation of the date and subject matter for their own personal record(s). However, no notation or other information pertaining to such discussions shall be included in the employee's personnel folder. While such discussions may not be cited as an element of a prior adverse record in any subsequent disciplinary action against an employee, they may be, where relevant and timely, relied upon to establish that employees have been made aware of their obligations and responsibilities.

Section 16.03. Letter of Warning.

A letter of warning is a disciplinary notice in writing, identified as an official disciplinary letter of warning, which shall include an explanation of a deficiency or misconduct to be corrected.

Section 16.04. Suspensions of Not More Than 14 Days.

In the case of discipline involving suspensions of fourteen (14) days or less, the employee against whom disciplinary action is sought to be initiated shall be served with a written notice of the charges against the employee and shall be further informed that said employee will be suspended after two (2) working days during which two-day period the employee shall remain on the job or on the clock (in pay status) at the option of the Employer.

Section 16.05. Suspensions of More Than 14 Days or Discharge.

In the case of suspensions of more than fourteen (14) days, or of discharge, any employee shall, unless otherwise provided herein, be entitled to an advance written notice of the charges against the employee and shall remain either on the job or on the clock at the option of the Employer for a period of thirty (30) days. Thereafter, the employee shall remain on the rolls (non-pay status) until disposition of the case has been had either by settlement with the Union or through exhaustion of the grievance-arbitration procedure. A preference eligible who chooses to

appeal a suspension of more than fourteen (14) days or a discharge to the Merit Systems Protection Board (MSPB) rather than through the grievance-arbitration procedure shall remain on the rolls (non-pay status) until disposition of the case has been had either by settlement or through exhaustion of the employee's MSPB appeal. When there is reasonable cause to believe an employee is guilty of a crime for which a sentence of imprisonment can be imposed, the Employer is not required to give the employee the full thirty (30) days' advance written notice in a discharge action, but shall give such lesser number of days advance written notice as under the circumstances is reasonable and can be justified. The employee is immediately removed from a pay status at the end of the notice period.

Section 16.06. Indefinite Suspension - Crime Situation.

16.06(a). The Employer may indefinitely suspend an employee in those cases where the Employer has reasonable cause to believe an employee is guilty of a crime for which a sentence of imprisonment can be imposed. In such cases, the Employer is not required to give the employee the full thirty (30) days advance notice of indefinite suspension, but shall give such lesser number of days of advance written notice under the circumstances is reasonable and can be justified. The employee is immediately removed from a pay status at the end of the notice period.

16.06(b). The just cause of an indefinite suspension is grievable. The arbitrator shall have the authority to reinstate and make the employee whole for the entire period of the indefinite suspension.

16.06(c). If after further investigation or after resolution of the criminal charges against the employee, the Employer determines to return the employee to a pay status, the employee shall be entitled to back pay for the period that the indefinite suspension exceeded seventy (70) days, if the employee was otherwise available for duty, and without prejudice to any grievance filed under (b) above.

16.06(d). The Employer may take action to discharge an employee during the period of an indefinite suspension whether or not the criminal charges have been resolved, and whether or not such charges have been resolved in favor of the employee. Such action must be for just cause, and is subject to the requirements of Section 16.04 of this Article.

Section 16.07. Emergency Procedure.

An employee may be immediately placed on an off-duty status (without pay) by the Employer, but remain on the rolls where the allegation

involves intoxication (use of drugs or alcohol), pilferage, or failure to observe safety rules and regulations, or in cases where retaining the employee on duty may result in damage to U.S. Postal Service property, loss of mail or funds, or where the employee may be injurious to self or others. The employee shall remain on the rolls (non-pay status) until disposition of the case has been made. If it is proposed to suspend such an employee for more than fourteen (14) days or discharge the employee, the emergency action taken under this Section may be made the subject of a separate grievance.

Section 16.08. Review of Discipline.

In no case may a supervisor impose suspension or discharge upon an employee unless the proposed disciplinary action by the supervisor has first been reviewed and concurred in by **the Manager**, **Human Resources** or designee.

Section 16.09. Veterans' Preference.

A preference eligible is not hereunder deprived of whatever rights of appeal such employee may have under the Veterans' Preference Act; however, if the employee appeals under the Veterans' Preference Act, the employee thereby waives access to any procedure under this Agreement beyond Step 3 of the grievance-arbitration procedure.

Section 16.10. Employee Discipline Records.

The records of a disciplinary action against an employee shall not be considered in any subsequent disciplinary action if there has been no disciplinary action initiated against the employee for a period of two years.

Upon the employee's written request, a disciplinary notice or decision letter will be removed from the employee's official personnel folder after two years if there has been no disciplinary action initiated against the employee in that two-year period.

ARTICLE 17 UNION REPRESENTATION

Section 17.01. Appointment of Representatives.

17.01(a). The Union may certify a steward from the bargaining unit for each health unit. The Union may also certify an area representative for the health units in a specified area.

17.01(b). In the event that there is no steward at a particular health unit, or the steward chooses not to handle a particular grievance, the area representative shall handle that matter. If the union representative does not work at the facility in which the grievance arose, the matter will be handled by telephone.

Section 17.02. Rights of NPPN Representatives.

17.02(a). Stewards and other union representatives may investigate, present, and adjust grievances. The steward or representative properly certified in accordance with Section 17.01 may request and shall have access through the appropriate supervisor to review the documents, files, and other records necessary for and relevant to processing a grievance or determining if a grievance exists and shall have the right to interview the aggrieved employee(s), supervisors, and witnesses during working hours, provided such interviews do not disrupt the operations of the health unit or other postal work units. Such requests shall not be unreasonably denied.

17.02(b). When it is necessary for a steward or other union representative to leave his or her health unit or facility to investigate and adjust grievances or to investigate a specific problem to determine whether to file a grievance, he or she shall request permission from the immediate supervisor. Such request shall not be unreasonably denied. In the event the duties require the steward or representative to leave the health unit and enter another area within a facility or another facility, the steward or Union representative must also receive permission from the supervisor of the area to be entered, and such request shall not be unreasonably denied.

While serving as a steward, an employee may not be involuntarily transferred to another tour or health unit unless there is no other assignment for which the employee is qualified on his or her tour or in the health unit.

17.02(c). All polygraph tests shall be voluntary.

Section 17.03. Payment of Stewards and Employee Witnesses.

17.03(a). The aggrieved employee and a steward or other NPPN representative certified pursuant to Section 17.01(a), shall be paid at the applicable straight time rate for time during their regularly scheduled work hours actually spent in grievance handling, including investigations and meetings with the Employer through Step 3 of the grievance procedure. The steward or other NPPN represen-

tative shall be paid for time necessary to write a grievance during his or her regularly scheduled work hours. USPS will also compensate any employee witness for time required to attend a Step 3 meeting.

17.03(b). Union officers, stewards or area representatives shall be paid for time spent attending meetings called by the Employer, provided the meeting falls within their regularly scheduled work hours.

Section 17.04. Checkoff.

Without cost to the NPPN, USPS shall deduct and remit regular and periodic dues from the pay of employees who are members of the Union, provided that USPS has received a written assignment which shall be irrevocable for a period of not more than one year. USPS agrees to remit to the NPPN all deductions to which it is entitled within 14 days of the pay period in which the deductions are made.

[see page 64]

Section 17.05. National Representative.

The parties agree that the NPPN may designate a bargaining unit member to serve as a national NPPN representative. This national NPPN representative shall be allowed up to two consecutive eight hour workdays (sixteen hours) per week to perform steward duties on leave without pay (LWOP).

Section 17.06. Telephone Conferences.

Grievances and other matters handled by NPPN designated representatives may be discussed on the telephone. Each party is responsible for its own costs, including telephone and FAX costs. In all such telephone grievance processing situations, the NPPN representative shall provide the USPS representative with a written statement of the facts and issue(s) at least 24 hours in advance of the telephone discussion.

ARTICLE 18 NO STRIKE

Section 18.01. No Strike.

The Union in behalf of its members agrees that it will not call or sanction a strike or slowdown.

Section 18.02. Union Responsibility.

The Union will take reasonable action to avoid such activity and where such activity occurs, immediately inform striking employees they are in violation of this agreement and order said employees back to work.

Section 18.03. Union Compliance.

It is agreed that the Union which complies with the requirements of this Article shall not be liable for the unauthorized action of their members or other postal employees.

Section 18.04. Legislation.

The parties agree that the provisions of this Article shall not be used in any way to defeat any current or future legal action involving the constitutionality of existing or future legislation prohibiting federal employees from engaging in strike actions. The parties further agree that the obligations undertaken in this Article are in no way contingent upon the final determination of such constitutional issues.

ARTICLE 19 HANDBOOKS AND MANUALS

Section 19.01. Intent.

Those parts of all handbooks, manuals, and published regulations of the Postal Service, that directly relate to wages, hours or working conditions, as they apply to employees covered by this Agreement, shall contain nothing that conflicts with this Agreement, and shall be continued in effect except that the Employer shall have the right to make changes that are not inconsistent with this Agreement and that are fair, reasonable, and equitable.

Section 19.02. Union Notification.

Notices of such proposed changes that directly relate to wages, hours, or working conditions will be furnished to the Union at least thirty (30) days prior to issuance. At the request of the Union, the parties shall meet concerning such changes. If the Union, after the meeting believes the proposed changes violate this Agreement (including this Article), it may then submit the issue to arbitration in accordance with the arbitration procedure within thirty (30) days after receipt of the notice of proposed change. Copies of those parts of all new handbooks, manuals and regulations that directly relate to wages, hours or working conditions, as they

apply to employees covered by this Agreement, shall be furnished the Union upon issuance.

ARTICLE 20 PARKING

Section 20.01. Parking Program.

Current policy concerning parking for employees covered by this Agreement, on an installation-by-installation basis, shall continue in effect.

Section 20.02. Energy Usage.

In order to reduce energy usage the Employer and the Union will promote the use of carpooling and public transportation, where available.

Section 20.03. Security for Employees.

Recognizing the need for adequate security for employees in parking areas, and while en route to and from parking areas, the Employer will take reasonable steps, based on the specific needs of the individual location, to safeguard employee security.

Section 20.04. Local Labor-Management Meetings.

Parking for bargaining unit nurses is a proper topic for discussion at National Labor-Management Committee meetings. Local management will consider the Union's request for parking for bargaining unit nurses based on the need for adequate security for nurses and ready access to the health unit

ARTICLE 21 BENEFIT PLANS

Section 21.01. Health Benefits

The method for determining the Employer bi-weekly contributions to the cost of employee health insurance programs under the Federal Employees Health Benefits Program (FEHBP) will be as follows:

21.01(a). The Office of Personnel Management shall calculate the subscription charges under the FEHBP that will be in effect the following January with respect to self only enrollments and self and family enrollments.

21.01(b). The bi-weekly Employer contribution for self only and self and family plans is adjusted to an amount equal to 85% of the weighted average bi-weekly premiums under the FEHBP as determined by the Office of Personnel Management. The adjustment begins on the effective date determined by the Office of Personnel Management in January 2003, January 2004, and January 2005.

21.01(c). The weight to be given to a particular subscription charge for each FEHB plan and option will be based on the number of enrollees in each such plan and option for whom contributions have been received from employers covered by the FEHBP as determined by the Office of Personnel Management.

21.01(d). The amount necessary to pay the total charge for enrollment after the Employer's contribution is deducted shall be withheld from the pay of each enrolled employee. To the extent permitted by law, the Employer shall permit employees covered by this Agreement to make their premium contributions to the cost of each plan on a pre-tax basis, and shall extend eligibility to such employees for the U.S. Postal Service's flexible spending account plans for unreimbursed health care expenses and work-related child care and elder care expenses as authorized under Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code.

21.01(e). The limitation upon the Employer's contribution towards any individual employee shall be 88.75% of the subscription charge under the FEHBP in 2003, 2004, and 2005.

Section 21.02 Life Insurance

The Employer shall maintain the current life insurance program in effect during the term of this Agreement.

Section 21.03 Retirement

The provisions of Chapters 83 and 84 of Title 5 U.S. Code, and any amendments thereto, shall continue to apply to employees covered by this Agreement.

Section 21.04 Injury Compensation

Employees covered by this Agreement shall be covered by subchapter I of Chapter 81 of Title 5, and any amendments thereto, relating to compensation for work injuries. The Employer will promulgate appropriate

regulations which comply with applicable regulations of the Office of Workers' Compensation Programs and any amendments thereto.

Section 21.05 Health Benefit Brochures

When a new employee who is eligible for enrollment in the Federal Employee's Health Benefit Program enters the Postal Service, the employee shall be furnished a copy of the Health Benefit Plan brochure of the Union or its affiliate.

Section 21.06. Malpractice

An employee who is named as defendant in a malpractice suit as a result of an incident occurring within the scope of the employee's official duties shall be covered by the provisions of subchapter 667 of the Employee and Labor Relations Manual.

ARTICLE 22 BULLETIN BOARDS

Where requested, the Employer shall furnish the Union a bulletin board, subject to the conditions stated herein, if space is available. The bulletin board shall be for the exclusive use of the Union. The Union may place a literature rack in swing rooms, if space is available. Only suitable notices and literature may be posted or placed on the bulletin boards. There shall be no posting or placement of notices or literature on the bulletin boards except upon the authority of the officially designated union representative.

ARTICLE 23 RIGHTS OF UNION OFFICIALS TO ENTER POSTAL INSTALLATIONS

Upon reasonable notice to the Employer duly authorized representatives of the Union shall be permitted to enter postal installations for the purpose of performing and engaging in official union duties and business related to the Collective Bargaining Agreement. There shall be no interruption of the work of employees due to such visits and representatives shall adhere to the established security regulations.

ARTICLE 24 EMPLOYEES ON LEAVE WITH REGARD TO UNION BUSINESS

Section 24.01. Step Increases and Benefits Determination.

Any employee on leave without pay to devote full or part-time service to a Union signatory to this Agreement shall be credited with step increases as if the employee had been in a pay status. Retirement benefits will accrue on the basis of the employee's step so attained, provided the employee makes contributions to the retirement fund in accordance with procedure. Annual and sick leave will be earned in accordance with existing procedures based on hours worked.

Section 24.02. Leave to Attend Union Conventions.

Full or part-time employees will be granted annual leave or leave without pay at the election of the employee to attend National, State and Regional Union Meetings provided that a request for leave has been submitted by the employee to the installation head as soon as practicable and provided that approval of such leave does not seriously adversely affect the service needs of the installation.

Section 24.03. Choice Vacation Period.

24.03(a). If the requested leave falls within the choice vacation period and if the request is submitted prior to the determination of the choice vacation period schedule, it will be granted prior to making commitments for vacations during the choice period, and will be considered part of the total choice vacation plan for the installation, unless agreed to the contrary at the local level. Where the specific attendees to the meetings have not yet been determined, upon the request of the Union, the Employer will make provision for leave for these attendees prior to making commitments for vacations.

24.03(b). If the requested leave falls within the choice vacation period and the request is submitted after the determination of the choice vacation period schedule, the employer will make every reasonable effort to grant such request, consistent with service needs.

Section 24.04. Requests for Leave Without Pay.

An employee may request leave without pay to devote full-time or part-time service to the Union signatory to this Agreement by submitting to the employee's immediate supervisor a fully completed PS Form 3971, including the number of hours requested and the month, day and hour that the leave would start and end. This includes requests made pursuant to Article 17, Section 17.05. Such requests shall be submitted a minimum of forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the start of the requested period of leave without pay. The Employer recognizes that in exceptional circumstances a Union official may make an oral request for the above-described leave less than forty-eight (48) hours in advance of the start of such leave. The Employer will make every reasonable effort to grant such exceptional requests.

ARTICLE 25 HIGHER LEVEL ASSIGNMENTS

Section 25.01. Temporary Assignments to Higher Level Positions Outside the Bargaining Unit.

Temporary assignments to higher level positions outside the bargaining unit shall be in accord with the applicable provisions of Chapter 4, Pay Administration, Employee and Labor Relations Manual.

Section 25.02. Leave Administration.

25.02(a). Short Term. Employees working short term on a higher level assignment or detail will be entitled to approved sick leave or annual leave at the higher level rate for a period not to exceed three (3) days, provided they resume work on the higher level assignment or detail upon return to work from the sick leave or annual leave. Short term shall mean that an employee has been on a higher level assignment or detail for a period of not more than 29 consecutive workdays at the time the leave is taken. All short term assignments or details will automatically be canceled if replacements are required for the absent detailed employees.

Section 25.02(b). Long Term. Employees working long term on a higher level assignment or detail will be entitled to approved sick leave or annual leave at the higher level rate, provided they resume work on the higher level assignment or detail upon return to work from sick leave or annual leave. Long term shall mean that the employee has been on the higher level assignment or detail for 30 or more consecutive workdays at the time the leave is taken.

25.02(c). Terminal Leave Payments. Terminal leave payments resulting from death will be paid at the higher level for all employees who are assigned or detailed to higher level positions on their last workday.

ARTICLE 26 UNIFORMS

Section 26.01. Regulations

The uniform regulations in subchapter 930 of the Employee and Labor Relations Manual shall be applicable to employees covered by this Agreement except as such regulations have been modified or changed by this Agreement.

Section 26.02. Prescribed Uniform

Health unit employees covered by this Agreement shall wear the following prescribed articles of uniform in the performance of their official duties:

26.02(a). Articles for Women

Dress White Pants White

Tops White medical style, or at the employee's option, the

employee may substitute a colored medical style top.

Cap The wearing of a nurse's cap shall be optional with

each employee.

Hose/Socks White

Shoes White, consistent with United States Postal Service

safety guidelines.

Insignia Each employee must obtain and display an

identification insignia showing the employee's name and the letters "R.N." or "R.N./C.O.H.N."

Sweater The wearing of a white or navy blue cardigan

sweater shall be optional with each employee.

Lab Coat Optional, over uniform

26.02(b). Articles for Men

Shirt White, medical style, or at the employee's option, the

employee may substitute a colored medical style

shirt.

Trousers White Socks White

Shoes White, consistent with United States Postal Service

safety guidelines.

Insignia Each employee must obtain and display an identifi-

cation insignia showing the employee's name and

the letters "R.N." or "R.N./C.O.H.N."

Sweater The wearing of a white or navy blue cardigan

sweater shall be optional with each employee.

Lab Coat Optional, over uniform

Section 26.03. Uniform Reimbursement

26.03(a). Full-Time Employees. The annual uniform reimbursement for full-time employees shall be \$300 per annum. The uniform reimbursement shall become effective on the employee's employment anniversary date as a registered nurse with the U.S. Postal Service.

26.03(b). Part-Time Employees. Part-time employees shall not be entitled to receive a uniform reimbursement if they have not worked 1,560 hours in the 12 month period immediately preceding their employment anniversary date as a registered nurse with the U.S. Postal Service.

26.03(c). Probationary Employees. Probationary employees will not receive credit for uniform reimbursement until such employee completes the probationary period of employment. When the employee completes the probationary period of employment, the employee's anniversary date of employment as a registered nurse will be computed in accordance with this Agreement as of the initial day of full-time or part-time employment.

ARTICLE 27 COMMITTEES

Section 27.01. Joint Committee on Professional Status.

27.01(a). There shall be established at the national level a Joint Committee on Professional Status. The Committee shall consist of three (3) representatives of the Employer, one of whom shall be the National Medical Director or designee, and three (3) representatives of the Union. The Committee, by majority vote, may agree to permit or invite the participation of other persons on a non-voting basis. The Committee shall meet annually and at such other times as mutually agreeable to the parties. Agenda items for discussion by the Committee shall be submitted by each party to the other party at least fourteen (14) days before the scheduled meeting date.

The purpose of the Committee is to foster improved communications between the Employer and its nurses in the area of professional status and recognition. To this end, the Committee shall:

27.01(a)(1). Consider constructively the professional status of occupational health nurses in the United States Postal Service:

27.01(a)(2). Work constructively for the improvement of occupational health care and nursing performance;

27.01(a)(3). Recommend to the Employer ways and means of improving occupational health care; and

27.01(a)(4). Make recommendations concerning the improvement of the general state of the health of postal employees and the institution of preventive health measures.

27.01(b). The Committee may recommend measures designed to improve the professional status and recognition of nurses in the United States Postal Service and to improve the quality of occupational health nursing in postal facilities. The subject of the Quality of Working Life for professional nurses may be an item of discussion during the meetings of this Committee. The Employer will give such recommendations due consideration. The Committee will not discuss economic issues or matters subject to the collective bargaining agreement. Activities of the Committee are advisory and are not subject to the grievance-arbitration procedure.

Section 27.02. National Joint Labor-Management Committee.

27.02(a). There shall be established a National Joint Labor-Management Committee, the purpose of which shall be to foster amicable relations between the Employer and the Union, and to mutually resolve potential national problems in the area of labor-management relations. The Committee shall meet annually and at such other times as mutually agreeable to the parties.

27.02(b). Topics for discussion by the Committee shall include, but not be limited to, general matters pertaining to non-discrimination and civil rights, safety and health, and general labor-management relations problems. Agenda items shall be submitted by each party to the other party at least fourteen (14) days before the scheduled meeting date. The Committee shall not serve as a forum for discussing economic issues, matters for collective bargaining, or

particular grievances, nor shall it serve as an alternative to the grievance-arbitration procedure set forth herein. The Committee serves in an advisory capacity only. The Committee may make recommendations to the Employer who shall give the recommendations due consideration.

ARTICLE 28 UNION-MANAGEMENT COOPERATION

Section 28.01. Membership Solicitation and Dues Collection.

The Union may, through employees employed by the Employer solicit employees for membership in the Union and receive Union dues from employees in non-work areas of the Employer's premises, provided such activity is carried out in a manner which does not interfere with the orderly conduct of the Employer's operation.

Section 28.02. Furnishing Information to Union.

28.02(a). The Employer will make available for inspection by the Union all relevant information necessary for collective bargaining or the enforcement, administration or interpretation of this Agreement, including information necessary to determine whether to file or to continue the processing of a grievance under this Agreement. Upon the request of the Union, the Employer will furnish such information, provided, however, that the Employer may require the Union to reimburse the USPS for any costs reasonably incurred in obtaining the information.

28.02(b). Requests for information relating to purely local matters should be submitted by a union representative from that installation to the installation head or designee. All other requests for information should be directed by the President of the Union to the Vice-President for Labor Relations.

28.02(c). The Employer shall, on an accounting period basis, provide the Union with a list of hires, promotions, demotions, and separations of bargaining-unit employees for the Union. During March and September, the Employer shall furnish the Union two copies of a listing containing the following information concerning employees in the bargaining unit: name, full address, Social Security Number; health benefits enrollment code number; work facility name; and finance number.

28.02(d). Nothing herein shall waive any rights the Union may have to obtain information under the national Labor Relations Act, as amended.

ARTICLE 29 SUBCONTRACTING

Section 29.01. Evaluation.

The Employer will give due consideration to public interest, cost, efficiency, availability of equipment, and qualification of employees when evaluating the need to subcontract.

Section 29.02. Notification to the Union.

The Employer will give advance notification to the Union when subcontracting which will have a significant impact on the bargaining unit is being considered. The Employer will meet with the Union to consider the Union's views on minimizing such impact. No final decision on whether or not such work will be contracted out will be made until the matter is discussed with the Union.

The provisions of this Article shall not be applicable to the Employer's utilization of contract nurses as set forth in Article 7, Employee Classifications, Section 7.02 of this Agreement.

ARTICLE 30 NONPOSTAL TRAINING AND EDUCATION

Section 30.01. General Training Policy.

The Employer recognizes that the availability of training opportunities is in the best interests of the Employer and all of its employees. Therefore, the Employer shall continue in effect the provisions of Chapter 7 of the Employee and Labor Relations Manual, Training and Development, as such chapter may apply to employees covered by this Agreement. The United States Postal Service Occupational Medical Program strives to maintain the highest level of medical and nursing expertise. Employer-provided continuing education for nurses will be part of this effort. In furtherance of this policy, nurses may be required to attend courses, seminars, and meetings to enhance their occupational nursing skills as those skills relate to employment as Postal Service Occupational Health Nurses.

Section 30.02. Continuing Education.

Section 30.02(a). Continuing Education Required For License

Each nurse must earn the number of nursing continuing education **hours** (CEHs) as required by state law or regulation to maintain

their nursing licenses by attending courses, seminars, or similar programs.

Section 30.02(b). Other Continuing Education

The Employer is required to permit each nurse to receive a minimum of 48 hours of training in courses which offer approved continuing education hours (CEHs) including CEHs earned under 30.02(a), if any, during the period of February 1, 2002, through August 20, 2004. A nurse may use 32 hours of continuing education in a single year of a two year period. However, nurses shall not be permitted to wait until the end of the Agreement expiration period before attending continuing education courses. Reasonable requests for training may not be denied solely on the basis of lack of district or area funding.

The USPS is committed to providing educational opportunities that enable career occupational health nurses to acquire the skills and knowledge necessary to practice competently in the specialty of occupational health nursing. Occupational health nurse continuing education may be provided through the National, State and Local American Association of Occupational Health Nurses Chapters and other approved sources which provide educational courses in Occupational Heath Nursing. The Postal Service recommends that these, or equivalent sources, are used for this required continuing education.

Section 30.02(c). Exceptions

Nurses who enter the bargaining unit less than twelve (12) months before the expiration of this Agreement are not entitled to training financed by the Employer.

[see page 58]

Section 30.03. Requests and Approvals.

Requests for approval to attend continuing education sessions and for schedule changes to cause such attendance to coincide with scheduled work hours are to be submitted through the employee's supervisor to the Senior Area Medical Director for review and recommendation to the installation head. These requests must be made in writing as far in advance as possible, but not less than thirty (30) days before the date of the program. The installation head shall act on the request as expeditiously as possible, and shall, to the extent possible, advise the employee of the approval or denial of the request in writing no later than fourteen (14)

days after the date on which the request was received. The Senior Area Medical Director reserves the right to provide or prescribe continuing education **hours** (CEHs) courses.

Training denials may be reviewed in accordance with ELM 742.22.

The Postal Service does not recognize or pay for "home study courses".

Section 30.04. Payment.

Approved attendance hours in training as described in 30.02 will be paid at the nurse's straight time basic salary but excluding night shift, Sunday premium, out-of-schedule and all other premiums. However, nurses continue to be subject to FLSA regulations. Training tuition, fees, books, and supplies will be provided in accordance with Section 742.41 of the FLM.

ARTICLE 31 EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAM

Section 31.01. Statement of Principle.

31.01(a). The Employer and the Union express strong support for programs of self-help. The Employer shall provide and maintain a program which shall encompass the education, identification, referral, guidance and follow-up of those employees afflicted by the disease of alcoholism and/or drug abuse. When an employee is referred to EAP by the Employer, the EAP counselor will have a reasonable period of time to evaluate the employee's progress in the program. Both the Union and the Employer through labormanagement cooperation, support the continuation of the EAP Program at the current level. In addition, the Employer will give full consideration to expansion of the EAP Program where warranted.

31.01(b). An employee's participation in such programs will be considered favorably in disciplinary action proceedings.

Section 31.02. Program Review.

The status and progress of the EAP Program, including improving methods for identifying alcoholism at its early stages and encouraging employees to obtain treatment without delay, will be proper agenda items for discussion at Joint Labor-Management Committee meetings as set forth under Article 27. Such discussion shall not breach the confidentiality of EAP participants.

Section 31.03. Employee Referrals.

In postal installations having professional health units, the health unit will maintain a current listing of all local community federally-approved drug treatment agencies for referring employees with such problems.

ARTICLE 32 SEPARABILITY AND DURATION

Section 32.01. Separability

Should any part of this Agreement or any provision contained herein be rendered or declared invalid by reason of any existing or subsequently enacted legislation or by a court of competent jurisdiction, such invalidation of such part or provision of this Agreement shall not invalidate the remaining portions of this Agreement, and they shall remain in full force and effect. When any provision is declared invalid, the parties will negotiate for a substitute provision concerning that subject matter in accordance with the procedures specified in 39 U.S.C. §1207.

Section 32.02. Duration

This Agreement effective upon the date of execution, except where otherwise noted, shall remain in full force and effect to and including 12 midnight August 20, 2004, and unless either party desires to terminate or modify it, for successive annual periods. The party demanding such termination or modification must serve written notice of such intent to the other party, not less than 90 or more than 120 days before the expiration date of the Agreement.

In witness whereof, the parties hereto affix their signatures below this 11th day of April 2002.

For the United States Postal Service

For the Union

Anthony J. Vegliante

Vice President, Labor Relations

U.S. Postal Service

Idell W. Mitchell, R.N., C.O.H.N.-S

President

National Postal Professional Nurses

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE AND THE NATIONAL POSTAL PROFESSIONAL NURSES

Re: Layoff

Each employee who is employed in the regular work force as of February 3, 1996, shall be protected henceforth against involuntary layoff or force reduction during the term of this Agreement. It is the intent of this Memorandum of Understanding to provide job security to each such employee until **August 20, 2004.**

Bruce D. Evans

Chief Spokesperson
United States Postal Service

S-OH 10:0:014 (TOTAL MODE) FOR C:0.40-2

Idell W. Mitchell, R.N., C.O.H.N.-S President

National Postal Professional Nurses

MEMORANDUM FOR RESPONSIBLE HEALTH UNIT MANAGERS

SUBJECT: Use of Contract Nurses

The National Postal Professional Nurses (NPPN) has brought to our attention that some facilities may not be fully in compliance with Section 7.02 of the USPS-NPPN Agreement covering bargaining unit occupational health nurses. Postal management should be reminded that the collective bargaining agreement prohibits the use of contract nurses to avoid the hiring of full-time or part-time nurses.

Joseph J. Mahon, Jr.

cc: District Directors, HR

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE AND NATIONAL POSTAL PROFESSIONAL NURSES

Re: Flexible Starting Salary

The United States Postal Service and the National Postal Professional Nurses (NPPN) agree that the Employer, where it determines in its discretion that such action is warranted, may set the starting salary for newly hired bargaining unit employees at up to Step 3 of the salary schedule. Any current bargaining unit employee at the facility at a lesser step(s) than the newly hired employee at that facility, will be placed at the same step as the newly hired employee.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE AND THE NATIONAL POSTAL PROFESSIONAL NURSES

Re: Orientation Training for New Nurses

Six (6) months from the effective date of this agreement, all newly hired postal nurses will receive orientation training. Nurses hired six (6) months after the effective date of this agreement will be provided an orientation training within four (4) months of being hired. An NPPN representative will be permitted to attend this training at no cost to the Employer.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE AND NATIONAL POSTAL PROFESSIONAL NURSES

Re: Selection of Arbitration Panels

USPS-NPPN National Arbitration Panel:

The Employer and the Union will attempt to mutually agree to select two (2) arbitrators from those already serving on the Postal Service National Arbitration Panels to hear grievances involving national interpretive issues arising under this Agreement on a rotating basis, if available. If the parties cannot mutually agree on the selection of the National arbitrators from the list of those arbitrators already serving on the Postal Service National Panels, each party will provide a list of names of six (6) proposed National arbitrators. If the parties are unable to mutually agree on the selection of the National arbitrators from these twelve (12) names, they shall combine each party's list in to a single list. The parties shall then alternate in striking names from this list until only two (2) names remain. Those will then constitute the USPS-NPPN National Arbitration Panel under this agreement.

USPS-NPPN Area Arbitration Panels:

The Employer and the Union will attempt to mutually select two (2) arbitrators from those already serving on the Postal Service Area Arbitration Panels to hear non-interpretive and discipline grievances at the Area level arising under this Agreement on a rotating basis, if available. The arbitrators will be selected from a listing of twelve (12) arbitrators presently serving on the Postal Service Area Arbitration Panels for the specific Area. If the parties are unable to mutually agree on the selection of two (2) names for the Area Panel of arbitrators, they shall then alternate in striking names from the Area list until only two (2) names remain. Those arbitrators will then constitute the USPS-NPPN Area Arbitration Panel for a specific Area, as designated below.

USPS-NPPN Area Arbitration Panels Designated Under the 1999-2004 USPS-NPPN Agreement

USPS-NPPN Central Area Arbitration Panel.

To hear non-interpretive and discipline grievances arising under this Agreement in those postal installations in the present Postal Service Great Lakes Area.

USPS-NPPN Eastern Area Arbitration Panel.

To hear non-interpretive and discipline grievances arising under this Agreement in those postal installations in the present Postal Service Eastern Area and the Capital Metro Operations Area.

Article 15.04 MOU

Page 2

USPS-NPPN Northeast Area Arbitration Panel.

To hear non-interpretive and discipline grievances arising under this Agreement in those postal installations in the present Postal Service New York Metro and Northeast Areas.

USPS-NPPN Southern Area Arbitration Panel.

To hear non-interpretive and discipline grievances arising under this Agreement in those postal installations in the present Postal Service Southeast and Southwest Areas.

USPS-NPPN Western Area Arbitration Panel.

To hear non-interpretive and discipline grievances arising under this Agreement in those postal installations in the present Postal Service Pacific and Western Areas.

For the USPS:

For the NPPN:

Bruce D. Evans Chief Spokesperson United States Postal Service Idell W. Mitchell, R.N., C.O.H.N.-S President National Postal Professional Nurses

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE AND THE NATIONAL POSTAL PROFESSIONAL NURSES

Re: Continuing Education Units/Hours (CEHs)

It is agreed that without prejudice to the position of either party with respect to grievances timely filed between August 14, 1999 and January 31, 2002 concerning the application of Article 30.02(b) the Postal Service will not raise as a procedural defense the fact that Article 30.02(b) of the 1999-2004 USPS-NPPN Agreement does not set a minimum number of continuous education units/hours (CEHs) available during the period of August 14, 1999 through January 31, 2002. The parties further agree that 32 continuing education units/hours (CEHs) will be considered available during the period referenced herein should that issue arise in discussion of a timely filed grievance.

This Memorandum of understanding expires on the expiration of the 1999 USPS-NPPN Agreement.

For the USPS:

For the NPPN:

2-(14 P.O (19 Mars

Bruce D. Evans Chief Spokesperson United States Postal Service

Idell W. Mitchell, R.N., C.O.H.N.-S President National Postal Professional Nurses Ms. Idell Mitchell President National Postal Professional Nurses P.O. Box 1605 Temple Hills MD 20757-1605

Re: Immunity from Liability

1992 USPS-NPPN Negotiations

Dear Ms. Mitchell:

This letter is written to provide you with information about nurses' potential liability for malpractice without a malpractice policy.

The Federal Employees' Liability Reform and Tort Compensation Act of 1988 was enacted into law. That Act was prompted by a Supreme Court decision which greatly curtailed the immunity from common law tort suits (which includes malpractice suits) previously enjoyed by federal employees. The Act was passed to overturn the Supreme Court's decision and thereby provide full immunity from liability for all common law torts committed by federal employees within the scope of their employment. Specifically excluded from the Act's immunity coverage are claims which allege the violation of constitutional rights or the violation of federal statutes. The Act applies to all claims and cases pending on or initiated after the date of enactment. The Act makes the Federal Tort Claims Act the exclusive remedy for claims covered by the Act, which means that individual government employees, including postal nurses, cannot be sued; only the United States can be sued.

In any malpractice suit against a postal nurse which may be pending or which may be filed in the future against a postal nurse, seeking to recover for injuries or other losses alleged to have occurred as the result of improper actions taken within the scope of the nurse's employment, the nurse is entitled to request that the suit be dismissed as to the nurse. When the United States Attorney certifies that the actions of the nurse were taken within the scope of employment, the following events will occur:

- The suit will be defended by an Assistant United States Attorney at no cost to the nurse named as the defendant.
- b. The United States will be substituted as the defendant, and the nurse will no longer be named as a defendant.
- c. In the event that a judgment is entered in favor of the party bringing the suit, the judgment will be paid by the Postal Service, and no reimbursement will be sought from the nurse involved.

If a postal nurse receives notice that a suit has been filed against the postal nurse, that nurse should follow the instructions contained in Section 667.12 of the Employee and Labor Relations Manual.

In many ways, the immunity by the Act is better for the nurse than having a malpractice insurance policy. The immunity from liability covers not only claims arising from malpractice, but also claims arising from all other common law torts. While a malpractice insurance policy would probably not afford a nurse coverage for liability on claims arising from such torts as libel, slander, false arrest, or misrepresentation, the Act affords complete immunity for any such torts committed within the scope of the postal nurse's employment. Moreover, any malpractice insurance policy would have some dollar limit on the amount of protection provided; in contrast, the Act's protection has no dollar limit.

Sincerely,

Joseph J. Mahon, Jr.

Ms. Idell Mitchell President National Postal Professional Nurses P.O. Box 1605 Temple Hills MD 20757-1605

Re: Medical Directives

Dear Ms. Mitchell:

The National Postal Professional Nurses expressed its concern during the recently concluded negotiations that some of the health units do not have medical directives. The Postal Service appreciates that concern and, to address this situation, will issue a memorandum which reiterates the requirement that all health units have medical directives in place.

Sincerely,

D. Richard Froelke, Manager Negotiations Planning and Support Attachment Ms. Idell Mitchell President National Postal Professional Nurses P.O. Box 1605 Temple Hills MD 20757-1605

Dear Ms. Mitchell:

Before the Postal Service elects to go outside the organization for the purpose of hiring new occupational health nurses into its health units, it will inform any displaced former occupational health nurses, now Human Resources Associates, within the normal commuting area to ascertain their interest in filing an application to return to the health unit as an occupational health nurse. Any such applications filed will be fairly and fully considered.

Sincerely,

Joseph J. Mahon, Jr.

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING

BETWEEN THE UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE AND THE NATIONAL POSTAL PROFESSIONAL NURSES

For the duration of the 1999-2004 collective bargaining agreement, the Postal Service will maintain and staff health units in locations identified in Attachment 1. However, it is recognized that, with respect to the units in the New York Metro Area (AMC-JFK; Flushing; Melville; New York, NY (JAF-Morgan); Westchester), the Postal Service may realign units by relocating them within the same county/borough or if outside of the county/borough within 10 highway miles of the current location, while retaining the same number of units

For the USPS: For the NPPN:

Bruce D. Evans
Chief Spokesperson
United States Postal Service

Idell W. Mitchell, R.N., C.O.H.N.-S President National Postal Professional Nurses

Attachment

Health Service Center Facilities to Remain Open During the Term of the 1999-2004 USPS/NPPN Collective Bargaining Agreement

Office	Finance #
AMC-JFK	35-6888
Atlanta, GA	12-0447
Baltimore, MD	23-0383
Boston, MA	24-0798
Buffalo, NY	35-1025
Capitol Heights, MD	10-5005
Carol Stream, IL	16-1540
Chicago, IL	16-1542
Cincinnati, OH	38-1603
Cleveland, OH	38-1666
Columbus, OH	38-1792
Dallas, TX	48-2271
Denver, CO	07-2355
Detroit, MI	25-2495
Detroit BMC, MI	25-2491
Flushing, NY	35-6888
Fort Worth, TX	48-3223
Houston, TX	48-4149
Indianapolis, IN	17-4035
Jacksonville, FL	11-4380
Kansas City, MO	28-4218
Los Angeles, CA	05-4530
Louisville, KY	20-4786
Melville, NY	35-4833
Miami, FL	11-5850
Milwaukee, WI	56-5484
Minneapolis, MN	26-6365
Newark, NJ	33-5673
New Jersey BMC, NJ	33-3869
New Orleans, LA	21-6569
New York, NY	35-5825

Office	Finance #
Northern Virginia	51-6543
North Texas Ind. MPC, TX	48-2270
Oakland, CA	05-5511
Orlando, FL	11-6913
Philadelphia, PA	41-6544
Phoenix, AZ	03-6368
Pittsburgh, PA	41-6608
Portland, OR	40-6787
Richmond, VA	51-7653
Rochester, NY	35-1028
Saint Louis, MO	28-7144
Saint Louis BMC, MO	28-7141
Saint Paul, MN	26-6365
San Francisco, CA	05-6786
San Juan, PR	42-8463
Seattle, WA	54-7621
Springfield, MA	24-7823
Tampa, FL	11-8925
Washington, DC	10-5005
Westchester, NY	35-9096

APPENDIX A (FORM 1187) UNITED STATES POSTAL SERVICE AUTHORIZATION FOR DEDUCTION OF UNION DUES

I hereby assign to the National Postal Professional Nurses Union, *Union Alpha Code "D"*, from any salary or wages earned or to be earned by me as your employee (in my present or any future employment by you) such regular and periodic membership dues as the Union may certify as due and owing from me, as may be established from time to time by said Union. I authorize and direct you to deduct such amounts from my pay and to remit same to said Union at such times and in such manner as may be agreed upon between you and the Union at any time while this authorization is in effect.

This assignment, authorization and direction shall be irrevocable for a period of one (1) year from the date of delivery hereof to you, and I agree and direct that this assignment, authorization and direction shall be automatically renewed, and shall be irrevocable for successive periods of one (1) year, unless written notice is given by me to you and the Union not more than twenty (20) days and not less than ten (10) days prior to the expiration of each period of one (1) year.

This assignment is freely made pursuant to the provisions of the Postal Reorganization Act and is not contingent upon the existence of any agreement between you and my Union.

Signature of Employee	Date
Name of Employee (Print last, first, middle)	Social Security Number
Home Address (Street Address) City and Sta	ate Zip Code
Postal Installation Installatio	on Finance Number
I hereby certify that the regular dues of this or named member are currently established at \$ (based on 26 biweekly pay periods).	
Signature and Title of Authorized Union Office	cial Date
Date of Delivery to Employer	

Signature and Title of Employer Representative

Contributions of gifts (including dues) to the labor organization shown above are not tax deductible as charitable contributions. However, they may be tax deductible under other provisions of the Internal Revenue Code.

Index

Accident	
Accident Review Board	26
Advance Notice	
Accident Review Boards	26
Crime Situation	36
Purchase of Medical Equipment	3
Reduction in Work Force	24
Subcontracting	50
Suspension (more than 14 days) or Discharge	35
Telephone Conferences	39
Training Requests	51
Alcohol	
Discipline for Use	34
Emergency Suspension for Use	36
Employee Assistance Program (EAP)	52
Annual Basic Salary	
Calculation for Part-Time Employee Holiday	18
Pay Increases	9
Annual Leave	
Advance Leave Commitments	14
Attend Union Conventions	44
Choice Vacation Period	13
Emergency Leave	15
Forfeiture	13
Jury Duty	16
Vacation Roster	15
Arbitration	
Appeal from President of Union	30
Appeal from Step 2	30
Appeal from Step 3	30
Held During Working Hours	33
National Interpretive Issues	33

Order in Which Appealed	32
Procedure	32
Removals or Suspensions	33
Scheduled in Order Appealed	33
Term of Arbitrator	34
Transcripts	33
Withdraw 5 Days or Less	32
Attendance at Union Conventions	
Use of Annual Leave	14
Use of Annual or LWOP	44
Basic Work Week	
Defined	6
Benefit Plans	
Flexible Spending Accounts	42
Health Benefits	41
Injury Compensation	42
Life Insurance	42
Malpractice Protection	43
Retirement	42
Bids	
Assign to Junior Full-Time	22
Change of 1 Hour or Less	21
Duration of Posting	22
Items to Include	23
Mailing Notice to Home	23
No Bumping	21
Notifying Successful Bidder	23
Only Full-Time May Bid	21
Place of Posting	22
Post Within 10 Days	21
Withdrawing	22
Work Full-Time Assignment	7
Bulletin Board	
Ridding	22

For Union Use	43
Bulletin Boards Vacation Scheduling	14
Call-In Pay	
Non-Scheduled Day	8
Outside of Work Schedule	8
Checkoff	
Form 1187	39
Choice Vacation Period	
Duration	14
While on Union Business	44
Choice Vacation Program	
Vacation Period	14
Civil Rights	
Labor-Management Meeting	48
Non-Discrimination and Civil Rights	48
Committees	
Joint Committee on Professional Status	47
Local Labor-Management	41
National Joint Labor-Management	48
Contract Nurses	
Not Subject to Article 29	50
Notification to Union	5
Use of	5
Conventions	
Jury Duty or Attendance	14
Leave to Attend	44
Conversion	
From Part-time to Full-time	6
Order of	19
Disability	
Non-Occupational Illness or Injury	25
Rehire After	19

Discharge	
Advance Written Notice	35
Falsifying Application as Reason For	18
Management's Right	3
Presenting Two Witnesses in Arbitration	28
Reviewed and Concurred by Manager	37
Discharged	
For Just Cause	34
Discipline	
Employee's Discipline Records	37
Indefinite Suspension – Crime Situation	36
Letter of Warning	35
Procedure	34
Review of	37
Suspensions of More Than 14 Days or Discharge	35
Suspensions of Not More Than 14 Days	35
Veterans' Preference	37
Duration Clause	53
Emergency	
Annual Leave	15
Discipline	37
Emergency Annual Leave	15
Holiday Work	17
Lunch Breaks	8
Management's Right to Operate	3
Use of Contract Nurses	5
Employee and Labor Relations Manual	
Chapter 4 – Pay Administration	45
Chapter 7 – Training and Development	50
Occupational Illness or Injury	25
Subchapter 510 – Leave	13
Subchapter 667 – Malpractice	43
Subchapter 930 – Uniforms	46
Employee Assistance Program	52

Employee Classifications	
Contract Nurses	5
Flexible Relief Nurses	5
Full-Time	5
Part-Time	5
Employment Cost Index	
Definition	9
Pay Increases Resulting From	9
Equipment	
New Medical	3
Personal Protection	26
Grievance	
Appeal to Area Manager, Human Resources	29
Appeal to Senior Area Medical Director	29
By Telephone	39
Definition	27
Discipline	35
Discrimination	2
Furnishing Information to Union for Processing	49
Payment for Handling	38
Probationary Employee Separation	18
Procedure (Article 15)	27
Step 1	27
Step 2	29
Step 3	30
Suspension or Discharge	36
Unsafe or Unhealthful Conditions	26
Holidays	
Article 11	16
Eligibility for Holiday Pay	16
Holiday Leave Pay	16
Holiday Worked Pay	16
Observed	16
On Nonworkday	17

Part-Time Employee	16
Schedule	17
Hourly Rates of Pay	
Christmas Work	17
Holiday Leave	16
Holiday Work	16
Holiday Work for Part-Time Employee	18
Night Shift Differential	8
Out of Schedule Premium	7
Overtime Work	7
Sunday Premium Pay	8
Layoff	
By Inverse Seniority	4
Employees on Rolls After December 14, 1979	4
Employees on Rolls Before December 14, 1979	4
Layoff or Reduction in Force (Article 6)	4
Memorandum of Understanding	54
Lump Sum Payment	10
Management Rights	
Article 3	3
Memorandums of Understanding	
Layoff	54
Orientation Training for New Nurses	55
Notification	
Contract Nurse Use in Excess of 30 Days	5
New Medical Equipment	3
Subcontracting	50
Wages, Hours, Working Conditions (Article 19)	40
One-Time Cash Payment	10
-	
Preamble	1
Reassignments	20
Involuntary Reassignment and Return	20
Notification to Union	24

Principles of	23
Voluntary Reassignment and Return	20
Salary Table	12
Uniforms	
Prescribed Articles for Men	46
Prescribed Articles for Women	46
Regulations	46
Reimbursement	47